DISSERTATIONES BIOLOGICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS **367**

KAARIN PARTS

The impact of climate change on fine roots and root-associated microbial communities in birch and spruce forests





DISSERTATIONES BIOLOGICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS 367

DISSERTATIONES BIOLOGICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS 367

KAARIN PARTS

The impact of climate change on fine roots and root-associated microbial communities in birch and spruce forests



Department of Botany, Institute of Ecology and Earth Sciences, Faculty of Science and Technology, University of Tartu, Estonia

Dissertation was accepted for the commencement of the degree of *Doctor philosophiae* in plant ecology and ecophysiology at the University of Tartu on April 06, 2020 by the Scientific Council of the Institute of Ecology and Earth Sciences, University of Tartu.

Supervisors:	Dr. Ivika Ostonen-Märtin, University of Tartu, Estonia Prof. Krista Lõhmus, University of Tartu, Estonia					
Opponent:	Dr. Jussi Heinonsalo, University of Helsinki and Finnish Meteorological Institute, Finland					
Commencement:	Room 218, 40 Lai Street, Tartu, on 16 June 2020 at 10.15 a.m.					

Publication of this thesis is granted by the Institute of Ecology and Earth Sciences, University of Tartu.

ISSN 1024-6479 ISBN 978-9949-03-343-0 (print) ISBN 978-9949-03-344-7 (pdf)

Copyright: Kaarin Parts, 2020

University of Tartu Press www.tyk.ee

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	6	
LIST OF TERMS AND ABBREVIATIONS	7	
 INTRODUCTION	8 8 10 12 13	
 MATERIALS AND METHODS	15 15 17 17 18	
2.3. Microbiological analyses	20	
 2.3.1. Ectomycorrhizal community analysis: sampling and identification 2.3.2. Bacterial community analysis 2.4. Statistical Analyses 	20 20 21	
3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	23	
 3.1. The effect of elevated air humidity on birch fine roots and ectomycorrhizal community	23 23 26	
 3.3. Patterns in tree root morphology, biomass and soil microbial community along the latitudinal gradient	29	
 and growing in the North	31 32 35	
4. CONCLUSIONS	37	
REFERENCES		
SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN	51	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	56	
PUBLICATIONS	57	
CURRICULUM VITAE	119	
ELULOOKIRJELDUS	122	

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following publications that are referred to in the text by Roman numerals:

- I Parts, K., Tedersoo, L., Lõhmus, K., Kupper, P., Rosenvald, K., Sõber, A., Ostonen, I., 2013. Increased air humidity and understory composition shape short root traits and the colonizing ectomycorrhizal fungal community in silver birch stands. Forest Ecology and Management 310, 720–728.
- II Ostonen, I., Rosenvald, K., Helmisaari, H.-S., Godbold, D., Parts, K., Uri, V., Lõhmus, K., 2013. Morphological plasticity of ectomycorrhizal short roots in *Betula* sp and *Picea abies* forests across climate and forest succession gradients: its role in changing environments. Frontiers in Plant Science 4, 335.
- III Ostonen, I., Truu, M., Helmisaari, H.-S., Lukac, M., Borken, W., Vanguelova, E., Godbold, D.L., Lõhmus, K., Zang, U., Tedersoo, L., Preem, J.-K., Rosenvald, K., Aosaar, J., Armolaitis, K., Frey, J., Kabral, N., Kukumägi, M., Leppälammi-Kujansuu, J., Lindroos, A.-J., Merilä, P., Napa, Ü., Nöjd, P., Parts, K., Uri, V., Varik, M., Truu, J., 2017. Adaptive root foraging strategies along a boreal-temperate forest gradient. New Phytologist 215, 977–991.
- IV Parts, K., Tedersoo, L., Schindlbacher, A., Sigurdsson, B.D., Leblans, N.I.W., Oddsdóttir, E.S., Borken, W., Ostonen, I., 2019. Acclimation of fine root systems to soil warming: comparison of an experimental setup and a natural soil temperature gradient. Ecosystems 22, 457–472.

Published papers are reproduced with permission from the publishers.

Author's contribution to each paper:

- I The author is primarily responsible for field data collection and processing, data analysis and writing the manuscript.
- II The author contributed to field data collection and processing.
- III The author contributed to data collection and processing, and preparation of the manuscript.
- IV The author is primarily responsible for field data collection and processing, data analysis and writing the manuscript.

LIST OF TERMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

FAHM	Free Air Humidity Manipulation experiment
D	absorptive root diameter (mm)
SRA	specific root area $(m^2 kg^{-1})$, absorptive root area per unit of root weight
SRL	specific root length (m g^{-1}), absorptive root length per unit of root weight
RTD	absorptive root tissue density (kg m ⁻³)
L	absorptive root length (mm)
W	absorptive root weight (mg)
B_L	branching frequency per unit of absorptive root length (also $RTFL$ – root tip frequency per unit of root length; no mm^{-1})
B_{W}	branching frequency per unit of absorptive root weight (also $RTFW$ – root tip frequency per unit of root weight; no mg^{-1})
FRB/BA	total fine root biomass per stand basal area (kg m ⁻²)
aFRB/BA	absorptive fine root biomass per stand basal area (kg m ⁻²)
EcM	ectomycorrhizal

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Climate change and its impact on northern forests

Climate change scenarios forecast a 2–4 °C increase in air temperature and a 5–40% increase in precipitation in boreal and northern temperate regions of Europe by the end of this century (IPCC, 2013; Jaagus and Mändla, 2014; Jungqvist et al., 2014; Kjellström et al., 2018; Lindner et al., 2014). These changes impact soil temperature and moisture, which are governing factors in all belowground processes. The dynamics of soil organic matter (SOM) and nutrient cycles and the resilience of the surrounding forest ecosystems are highly dependent on developments in tree fine root systems and root-associated fungal communities (Adamczyk et al., 2019; Clemmensen et al., 2015; Courty et al., 2010; Jackson et al., 1997; Kieloaho et al., 2016). Therefore, gaining knowledge about tree root and rhizosphere community adaptations to soil warming and increased humidity is crucial for evaluating the resilience of different species to climate change and predicting forest carbon (C) and nutrient fluxes.

While changes in air temperature are predicted to be highest in the coldest months in high latitudes, largest increases in soil temperature occur during the vegetation period, when there is no insulating snowcover (Jungqvist et al., 2014). Predicted annual mean soil temperature increases for three Canadian boreal forests were 1.3 °C (by year 2050) and 2.3 °C (by 2080) for the forest floor and 1.4°C (by 2050) and 2.4 °C (by 2080) for mineral soil at 34 cm depth (predicted values are averaged for the three sites) (Houle et al., 2012). The same study predicts maximum increases as high as 5.2 °C for June in 2080 for mineral soil. Similar predictions have been made for Swedish boreal forests with an average increase of about 1.3–2.5 °C for most months of the year and a maximum increase of up to 4 °C in May in the northernmost area (Jungqvist et al., 2014; Oni et al., 2017).

The main growth-constraining factors in high-latitude and high-altitude forests are short growing season, low temperatures and for the former, low nitrogen (N) availability (Jandl and Schindlbacher, 2014; Ryan, 2013). Moderate warming could therefore initially benefit tree growth through prolongation of the growing season and mobilization of nutrients (Strömgren and Linder, 2002; Wu et al., 2011; Xu et al., 2012). However, excessive or long-term warming can cause depletion of soil water and nutrient supplies and result in retardation of growth and subsequently tree die-off. For Norway spruce, a threshold from a positive to a negative growth response has been recorded at a mean June air temperature of 12–14 °C (Andreassen et al., 2006; Sidor et al., 2015). Experimental soil warming has been shown to bring about deeper rooting, a decrease in fine root biomass or an increase in fine root mortality (Leppälammi-Kujansuu, 2014; Nishar et al., 2017; Wan et al., 2004). Accordingly, an increase in fine root turnover and decrease in fine root biomass has been exhibited to co-occur with increasing mean annual temperature in large-scale latitudinal studies (Gill and Jackson, 2000;

Leuschner and Hertel, 2003). Interestingly, it has been demonstrated for Norway spruce that the soil temperatures, where maximum root growth appears, are much higher than what they experience in either natural conditions or in warming experiments (Lahti et al., 2005; Lyr and Hoffmann, 1967). The negative warming effect on fine root biomass and lifespan that has been observed at higher temperatures in field experiments has been attributed to reduced soil moisture, enhanced root maintenance respiration, changes in soil fertility and chemical composition, or increased herbivore and pathogen activity (Nishar et al., 2017; Sidor et al., 2015; Wan et al., 2004). The size and direction of warming effects on root biomass, morphology and the EcM community depends largely on initial nutrient and water availability in the soil (Johnson et al., 2006; Leppälammi-Kujansuu, 2014). For example, in high-latitude N-limited ecosystems, warming has increased EcM mycelial production and community diversity (Clemmensen et al., 2006; Treseder et al., 2016) and caused a shift towards taxa characterized by abundant extramatrical biomass and large proteolytic capacity and a reduction in taxa with high affinities for labile N (Deslippe et al., 2011). On the other hand, in an alpine forest, where warming resulted in higher inorganic N availability, an increase in the relative abundance of species that are known to tolerate high levels of N was reported (Lilleskov et al., 2011; Solly et al., 2017).

Increases in air temperature co-occur with a rise in precipitation and air humidity at high latitudes (Dai, 2006; Willett et al., 2010). Over the recent decades (1976–2004), an increase in specific air humidity (g kg⁻¹) of 1.5%–6.0% decade⁻¹ has taken place over Eurasia (Dai, 2006). In the northern part of the Baltic Sea region, the largest increases in precipitation have been observed during the winter months and in June (Jaagus et al., 2018). Air humidity and precipitation are closely related to plant productivity, which has shown higher sensitivity to increased precipitation than to decreased precipitation (Wu et al., 2011). Higher air humidity may affect forests through a reduction in transpiration (Kupper et al., 2011) and thereby limit the mass flow of soluble minerals in the soil and nutrient uptake of roots (Cramer et al., 2009). Indeed, lower foliar concentrations of N and phosphorus (P) have been recorded for silver birches and hybrid aspens grown in conditions of elevated air humidity (Sellin et al., 2017). The reduction in transpiration also leads to an increase in soil moisture (Hansen et al., 2013), which directly affects the growth environment of roots and soil microorganisms. Excess soil water can cause hypoxia, which can impact membrane transport in roots and impair the uptake and root-to-shoot transport of N compounds (Kreuzwieser et al., 2009; Liu et al., 2015). Furthermore, increasing humidity has been shown to increase pathogen damage (Sellin et al., 2017). Studies of tree fine root biomass variation in relation to varying precipitation show that although dry conditions induce a more rapid fine root turnover, then the standing stock of fine root biomass and soil organic carbon (SOC) increases towards the humid end of the gradient (Leuschner and Hertel, 2003; Meier and Leuschner, 2010). Similar findings of increased fine root biomass and a higher proportion of absorptive root biomass have been observed for silver birches growing in elevated air humidity (Rosenvald et al., 2014).

1.2. Fine roots and ectomycorrhizal fungi

Fine roots (<2 mm in diameter) along with their ectomycorrhizal (EcM) symbionts are responsible for the water and nutrient uptake of trees. They are considered to be the most important component of below-ground C and nutrient fluxes, consuming up to 75% of fixed C and contributing up to 70% of the C stored in boreal forest soils (Clemmensen et al., 2013; Fogel and Hunt, 1983). Fine roots respond to changes in the growth environment with great plasticity, either through modifications in root biomass, root morphology or shifts in root-associated microbial communities (Ostonen et al., 2011; Richardson et al., 2009; Rosenvald et al., 2011b; Truu et al., 2017; Valverde-Barrantes et al., 2015).

Fine roots can be functionally divided into transport roots with secondary structure and absorptive roots with primary structure. Hereafter, I refer to the entire fine root compartment, which includes both absorptive and transport roots, as 'fine roots' and to the proportion of absorptive fine roots as 'absorptive roots'. Absorptive roots, also known as short roots or ectomycorrhizal roots, are the first-to third-order roots (McCormack et al., 2015; Ostonen et al., 2007, 1999) that constitute the most active and predominant part of the fine root system, accounting for more than 75% of total fine root length and 60% of total fine root surface (Guo et al., 2004). In temperate and boreal forests, absorptive roots are prevalently (90–100%) colonized by ectomycorrhizal fungi (Kraigher et al., 2007; Taylor et al., 2007; Marupakula et al., 2016).

Fine and absorptive roots exhibit several traits that determine nutrient uptake and root functioning, while providing information about root demographic patterns, soil fertility and plant stress status. A number of attempts have been made to incorporate these traits into frameworks of plant foraging strategies, although the results are far from conclusive. For example, high specific root length and area (SRL and SRA) have been thought to reflect the acquisitive or intensive strategy of enhanced resource uptake at lower biomass investments, high root cost efficiency and fast growth, which plants may employ either in conditions of soil resource scarcity or, on the contrary, in productive environments, where rapid acquisition of nutrients is essential to withstand competition (Comas and Eissenstat, 2004; de la Riva et al., 2018; Holdaway et al., 2011; Lõhmus et al., 2006; Ostonen et al., 2007; Weemstra et al., 2016). Depending on the circumstances, an increase in SRL and SRA can be viewed either as means of acclimation or serve as indication of plant stress (Rosenvald et al., 2011b). High SRL and SRA are achieved through a reduction in either root tissue density (RTD) or root diameter (D). Both D and RTD have been linked to root survivorship and age (Hajek et al., 2014; McCormack et al., 2012; Valverde-Barrantes et al., 2015; Weemstra et al., 2016; Wells and Eissenstat, 2001), but appear to vary independently from each other due to differing dependence on factors, such as soil structure and fertility, mycorrhizal colonization and phylogeny (Bergmann et al., 2020; de la Riva et al., 2018; Kramer-Walter et al., 2016; Valverde-barrantes et al., 2017). Another trait suggested to be of high importance in precision foraging and acclimation is

branching frequency, which is largely influenced by mycorrhizal association (Kong et al., 2014; Liese et al., 2017). In addition to altering root morphology, plants respond to varying nutrient availability through shifts in root biomass allocation. For example, higher investment in fine and absorptive root biomass has been shown to be common in nutrient poor forests and associated with the extensive foraging strategy (Helmisaari et al., 2007; Lõhmus et al., 2006; Ostonen et al., 2011). In small-scale nutrient patches, extensive fine root biomass accompanied by increased RTD has been reported and associated with the conservative syndrome of forming long-living roots (Valverde-Barrantes et al., 2015).

The identity of the fungal colonizer has a considerable effect on EcM absorptive root diameter, length and weight, thereby also influencing SRA and SRL (Makita et al., 2012; Ostonen et al., 2009; van der Heijden and Kuyper, 2003), which is why changes in root morphology should not be addressed separately from developments in the EcM fungal community. Besides differing in their influence on root growth and shape, EcM fungal taxa exhibit contrasting foraging strategies with varying capacities of enzymatic activities, nutrient uptake and translocation, and maintenance costs to the host plant (Gorissen and Kuyper, 2000; Lilleskov et al., 2002; Tedersoo et al., 2012; van der Heijden and Kuyper, 2003; Velmala et al., 2014). The different ecological strategies of EcM fungi have been associated with exploration type and hydrophobicity (Lilleskov et al., 2011; Unestam and Sun, 1995). Hydrophilic morphotypes (prevalently concurring with contact-, short-distance and medium-distance smooth exploration types) have lower proteolytic capabilities and depend on the availability of labile N forms, thus representing the exploiting ruderal strategy (Hobbie and Agerer, 2010; Lilleskov et al., 2011; Tedersoo et al., 2012). These morphotypes prosper in humid environments and have been shown to tolerate waterlogging and oxygen deficiency better (Bakker et al., 2006; Stenström, 1991). On the other hand, hydrophobic morphotypes that form rhizomorphs and produce high extramatrical biomass characterize environments, where labile N is scarce and insoluble organic N-sources are widely dispersed and spatially concentrated. Hydrophobic rhizomorphs facilitate effective long-distance water transport, prevent leakage of solutes and are characteristic for stress tolerant species in cases of drought and consequent nutrient limitation (Hobbie and Agerer, 2010). In such conditions, the costly formation of high extramatrical biomass and exudation of extracellular enzymes, capable of decomposing complex organic substrates, is advantageous. Producing extensive hydrophobic hyphal mats may also drive out other microorganisms and thus render a competitive quality (Unestam and Sun, 1995). Undoubtedly, the effectiveness of a morphotype, whether hydrophilic and forming low extramatrical biomass or hydrophobic and forming high biomass, depends on the specific conditions and limiting resources.

Extending the above-described inter-relatedness even further, shifts in root traits and fungal communities are reciprocally associated with changes in rhizo-sphere bacterial communities (Friesen et al., 2011; Marupakula et al., 2016), the effect of which on plant performance and root traits has been shown to vary

largely on climatic gradients (Rutten and Gómez-Aparicio, 2018). Additionally, elevated air humidity has been shown to affect the rhizosphere microbial community directly via changes in soil moisture and pH, but also through changes in absorptive root D, branching frequency and SRL (Truu et al., 2017). For example, higher SRL and branching frequency indicate larger number of young metabolically active root tips, which may create better substrate supply and benefit specific groups of rhizosphere bacteria.

1.3. Different approaches to studying the effects of climate change

Different approaches are available for studying the effects of climate change, which all have their advantages and restrictions: field manipulation experiments, natural small-scale environmental gradients and large-scale latitudinal gradients.

Field manipulation experiments enable us to study the ecosystems, species or genotypes of interest and identify causal effects, while maintaining a high degree of control over unwanted sources of variation. At the same time, the amount of treatment levels and the spatial and temporal span are usually limited, although exceptions do exist (Deslippe et al., 2011; Ryan, 2013; Schindlbacher et al., 2015). The short duration of most experiments increases the risk of under- or overestimating ecosystem responses (Walker et al., 2020), making it difficult to provide reliable predictions of long-term climate change effects. Underestimation of manipulation effects may arise from a delayed reaction of the ecosystem (especially regarding slow processes, such as changes in soil structure or shifts in community composition of long-lived species), while overestimation may occur when the studied system responds in a logarithmic or overshoot manner (Beier et al., 2012; De Boeck et al., 2015; Romero-Olivares et al., 2017). The spatial limitation of manipulation experiments also increases the chances of misinterpreting the results, because only parts of the plant or studied system are exposed to the manipulated conditions, which enables unmanipulated parts of the system to compensate for any resource imbalances and environmental changes, or more broadly, due to the 'island effect' (Leuzinger et al., 2015). The small number of treatment levels of manipulation experiments is also problematic as it prevents the detection of more complex responses, thresholds and tipping-points (Kreyling et al., 2014). In addition, the treatment intensity employed by manipulation experiments is rarely allowed to reach such extremes that lead to mortality (Beier et al., 2012).

Small-scale natural gradients offer solutions to some of the above-mentioned limitations. They allow us to investigate large and gradual changes over relatively small distances, while keeping other environmental factors (climate, elevation, soil type, photoperiodicity) unchanged. In case of natural geothermal temperature gradients, their large temperature ranges encompass the entire set of climate change predictions, which helps to reveal the shape of the warming response and potential thresholds in acclimation ability (Leblans et al., 2017). However, geothermal studies are confined to volcanic environments. Also, although they may be long-persisting, which allows long-term observations, they are still created by an abrupt change in temperature, acting as a disturbance. The main limitation of both manipulation experiments and small-scale natural gradients is that they both act as 'islands' in ambient surroundings, which may obscure treatment effects. Regarding soil warming experiments, they do not imitate global warming in full, as heat originates from the ground, leaving the air mostly unwarmed (Leblans, 2016; O'Gorman et al., 2014). More generally, results from single-factor treatments should be extrapolated cautiously, as it has been shown that combinations of environmental factors can interact synergistically or antagonistically (Leuzinger et al., 2011; Wu et al., 2011). Nevertheless, single-factor studies allow us to identify causes behind the observed changes by reducing complexity (De Boeck et al., 2015).

A valuable alternative to the small-scale manipulation and natural gradient experiments is studying latitudinal or altitudinal gradients as a proxy for climate change, i.e. the space-for-time approach. The advantage of using latitudinal gradients is their experimental realism and absence of the 'island effect', the lack of the initial abrupt change in temperature, and most importantly, their long-term character, which enables us to witness persistent changes and equilibrium states. At the same time, latitudinal gradients encompass different populations and cover a wide range of climates, soil types and other environmental factors that also significantly influence ecosystem functioning, making it harder to isolate causal effects and distinguish phenotypic plasticity from genetically determined differences. Still, large-scale latitudinal studies facilitate predicting the direction in which our studied ecosystems could evolve in a warmer world, identifying the natural endurance limits of species and ecosystems of interest and discovering generality in ecosystem responses. Altogether, it is recommended to apply and compare the results of all the different types of experiments to make reliable predictions and generalisations about climate change outcomes.

In this thesis, all three above-discussed approaches have been used to study the effects of soil warming and elevated air humidity on the fine roots and rootassociated microbial communities of spruce (*Picea sitchensis* Bong. Carr and *Picea abies* (L.) Karst.) and birch (*Betula pendula* Roth.). Spruce and birch were chosen for investigation because of their economical importance and wide distribution in temperate and boreal European forests (Caudullo et al., 2016; Houston Durrant et al., 2016; Hynynen et al., 2010), spruce species representing common late-successional and birch a pioneer tree species.

1.4. Aims of the thesis

The overall objective of this doctoral thesis was to analyse the effects of elevated air humidity and soil warming on the acclimation processes of fine roots and rootassociated microbial communities of birch and spruce, and compare these findings to patterns witnessed on latitudinal gradients with particular emphasis on root-EcM fungi-bacteria interactions. In addition, latitudinal gradient studies were used to distinguish root traits that respond most plastically in the studied tree species.

The specific aims were:

- 1) To examine whether and how elevated air humidity affects silver birch absorptive root morphology and the root-colonizing EcM community in relation to different understory types; and whether the morphological reaction shows any temporal change (I).
- 2) To find out whether and how soil warming affects spruce fine and absorptive root biomass allocation, absorptive root morphology and the root-colonizing EcM community; whether the response is similar in a man-made experiment and on a natural soil temperature gradient; and to analyse the response curves of the root traits up to the die-off edge of the trees (IV).
- 3) To investigate spruce and birch fine root-rhizobiome acclimation patterns on latitudinal gradients and identify the absorptive root traits that are most responsive in acclimation for both genera (II, III).

The main hypotheses were:

- 1) Elevated air humidity causes a morphological stress response in absorptive roots and a shift in root-colonizing EcM fungal community composition.
- 2) Soil warming induces a decrease in fine and absorptive root biomass allocation, which concurs with an increase in specific root area and length, and a shift in the community structure of EcM colonizers; root response to warming is similar in the man-made experiment and the natural soil temperature gradient.
- 3) There are root traits, such as absorptive root biomass, that change similarly in both tree species along the latitudinal gradient and are driven primarily by environmental factors, while spruce and birch also show distinctive morphological acclimation patterns.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1. Description of study sites

The effect of elevated air humidity on silver birch absorptive root morphology and the root-associated EcM community was studied on the FAHM (Free Air Humidity Manipulation) experimental site, which is situated at Rõka village in south-eastern Estonia (Kupper et al., 2011) (Table 1; Publication I). The effect of soil warming on spruce fine and absorptive root biomass and absorptive root morphology was studied on two sites: a man-made soil warming experiment in the Northern Limestone Alps, close to the village of Achenkirch, Austria (Schindlbacher et al., 2009); and a natural geothermal gradient (ForHot) close to Hveragerði in southern Iceland (Sigurdsson et al., 2016) (Table 1; Publication IV). At Achenkirch, we also identified the root-associated EcM community. The number and location of study stands on the latitudinal gradient are described in section 2.1.3.

For all the sites included in this doctoral thesis, there were comprehensive background data of climate variables, stand characteristics and soil chemical characteristics available, of which the relevant variables are presented in Tables 2 and 3. The full descriptions and references, how the measurements were conducted, are in the publications.

Site (tree species)	Achenkirch (Picea abies)	ForHot (<i>Picea</i> sitchensis)	FAHM (Betula pendula)
Location	47.581°N, 11.639°E	64.008°N, 21.178°W	58.4°N, 27.3°E
Elevation, m a.s.l.	910	83–168	40–48
MAT, °C	6.9ª	5.2 ^b	5.6°
MAP, mm	1506 ^a	1457 ^b	650
Stand age	130	50	3–5
Soil type ^d	Chromic Cambisol	Silandic Andosol	Endogenic Mollic Planosol
Stand basal area, m ² ha ⁻¹	35°	49	8
Stand density, trees ha ⁻¹	487 ^e	4461	10 000

Table 1. Background information about the soil warming and air humidification study sites (Publications I and IV).

^a Measured between 1992 and 2012 at Achenkirch village (7 km away at similar altitude); data from Zentralanstalt für Meteorologie und Geodynamik (ZAMG); reported by Schindlbacher et al. (2015). ^b Measured between 2003 and 2015 at the closest synoptic station at Eyrabakki (9 km south of Hveragerði); data from Icelandic Meteorological Office; reported by Sigurdsson et al. (2016). ^c Measured between 2009 and 2011 at the closest synoptic station at Ahja village; data from the Estonian Environment Agency. ^d IUSS Working Group WBR 2015. ^e Including only spruce.

Table 2. N FAHM situ temperatur	Mean mon e (Publica e at the de	thly values tion I). Abb pth of 15 cn	of meteoro reviations: n (ST; °C),	logical para throughfall air tempera	meters thre precipitati ture (AT; °	oughout the on (TF; m C) and rela	e vegetation m), soil wat tive humidit	periods of er potential y (RH; %);	the three st at the dep C – control	th of 15 cm , H – humid	2009–2011 (SWP; kF ification.) at the a), soil
	Ma	IJ	Jur	le	Ju	ly	Aug	ust	Septe	mber	Octo	ber
I	С	Н	С	Н	С	Н	C	Н	С	Н	С	Н
2009												
TF	14.4	23.7	107.0	105.0	71.4	97.4	35.2	42.5	56.5	63.8	70.8	67.7
SWP	-30.0	-9.8	-20.5	-12.0	-85.9	-12.0	-206.2	-3.8	-137.1	-5.7	-15.0	-1.5
ST	9.1	9.5	12.1	13.0	15.3	15.7	14.9	15.4	13.2	13.4	7.1	7.0
AT	11.5	11.2	14.1	14.0	17.0	16.6	15.2	14.7	12.7	12.2	4.0	3.8
RH	67.0	68.4	78.6	78.9	82.1	83.7	83.3	84.6	86.1	88.2	90.7	91.3
2010												
TF	38.0	45.0	93.7	85.1	33.4	25.6	103.4	104.8	93.9	108.0	41.5	41.4
SWP	-8.9	-13.6	-21.9	-36.0	-168.9	-132.4	-147.5	-97.0	-14.2	-17.2	-3.4	-12.6
\mathbf{ST}	10.6	11.4	13.0	13.7	17.7	18.5	17.7	17.7	12.5	12.2	6.9	6.5
AT	12.5	12.5	14.8	14.9	22.1	21.7	18.2	17.9	10.9	10.7	3.9	3.8
RH	76.0	77.3	77.0	77.1	73.7	75.7	81.6	84.1	86.8	88.9	85.7	86.2
2011												
TF	39.2	38.0	28.3	24.6	17.7	15.3	38.6	37.9	32.8	29.5	42.9	45.8
SWP	-13.2	-20.8	-137.4	-104.1	-212.2	-154.4	-185.3	-185.6	-180.4	-189.5	-59.2	-92.8
ST	9.8	9.8	14.1	14.5	17.2	17.4	16.0	15.9	13.1	13.1	8.6	8.6
AT	11.2	11.4	17.3	17.1	20.7	20.4	16.7	16.3	12.4	12.4	7.0	6.9
RH	69.2	69.6	73.4	75.4	77.7	80.5	79.7	82.3	85.7	87.2	86.5	87.1

2.1.1. The free air humidity manipulation (FAHM)

The study site has been established on former agricultural land. One-year-old silver birch seedlings were planted in the experimental area in spring 2006. The site contains humidified (H) and control (C) plots (samples were taken from two H and two C plots). Humidification started on 1 June 2008 and has been carried out daily throughout all following growing seasons. Humidification took place if the ambient relative air humidity dropped <75% and wind speed was <4 m s⁻¹. The FAHM system enabled an average increase in relative air humidity of 7% (maximum 18%) over the ambient level.

To investigate the impact of soil biota and understory species composition on ecosystem functioning, two different types of ground vegetation were established in the plots, representing either disturbed forest vegetation, such as that usually recorded in recent clear-cut areas, or early-successional vegetation with low diversity and a strong dominance of a few grass species, such as that in abandoned arable fields (Kupper et al., 2011). The 'forest' understory was dominated by *Ranunculus repens* L., *Lathyrus pratensis* L., *Festuca rubra* L., and *Veronica chamaedrys* L. and consisted of 67 species. The grass understory comprised only 31 species and exhibited strong dominance of *Elymus repens* (L.) Gould accompanied by *Aegopodium podagraria* L.

2.1.2. The soil warming experiments

The studied 130-year-old forest at the Achenkirch site was dominated by Norway spruce (*Picea abies*), inter-mixed with European beech (*Fagus sylvatica*) and silver fir (*Abies alba*). The amount of ground vegetation was negligible. In 2004, three spots were randomly selected on the site, where a warmed plot and an ambient plot were established, each with a size of 2×2 m. Warmed plots were equipped with resistance heating cables, which were buried in 3-cm-deep trenches and had a spacing of 7–8 cm. The soil temperature of each warmed plot was kept 4 °C above that of the adjacent ambient plot during the snow-free seasons, starting in spring 2005. The 4 °C warming level is in accordance with the soil temperature predictions made for the growing season in Canadian and Swedish boreal forests (Houle et al., 2012; Jungqvist et al., 2014).

In southern Iceland, an earthquake occurred on May 29, 2008, which affected geothermal systems close to its epicenter. One such system at Reykir moved to a previously unwarmed area (Sigurdsson et al., 2016; Þorbjörnsson et al., 2009), where the new geothermal bedrock channels caused increasing temperature in the soil above by radiative heating (O'Gorman et al., 2014). This recently warmed area is covered by an unthinned Sitka spruce forest that was planted in 1966–1967. In autumn 2012, twenty-five permanent experimental plots were established on five replicate transects in the stand (Figure S1 in IV). The transects were about 50 m in length and ranged from ambient soil temperature to about +10 °C. The location of the plots was chosen aiming for the long-term warming

levels of about 0, +1, +3, +5 and +10 °C warming (hereafter called levels A (unwarmed ambient), B, C, D and E, respectively), although the realized annual temperature means were slightly lower (Table 3; Sigurdsson et al., 2016). Owing to the geothermal origin of soil warming, temperature also increased towards the deeper soil on average 2 °C per depth interval (0–5, 5–10 and 10–20 cm; Figures 1 and S2 in IV). Ground vegetation proliferated only starting from D or E plots, which was close to the warming-induced die-off edge in the spruce stand (Figure S1 in IV; O'Gorman et al., 2014).

Table 3. Main site and soil characteristics per treatment in the soil warming experiments in 2013 (Publication IV). Abbreviations: AK – Achenkirch warming manipulation; FH – ForHot geothermal gradient; A – ambient, W – warming at Achenkirch; B–E – warming levels at ForHot; NE – not estimated.

Site, treatment (mean 2013 warming levels ^a , ΔT)	Average soil temperature during vegetation period ^{ab} , °C (ΔT)	Soil temperature during sampling, °C (ΔT) °	Stand basal area, m² ha ⁻¹	Topsoil C:N ratio	Topsoil NO ₃ ⁻ availability, μg 10cm ⁻² 89days ^{-1 d}	Volumetric water content, % ^e	рН- _{Н20} ^f
AK A	10.5	8.0	35	14.9	NE	47.2	~7
AK W (+4)	14.6 (+4.1)	12.1 (+4.1)	35	16.0	NE	43.5	~7
FH A	8.2	5.8	48	17.3	0.58	31.2	5.3
FH B (+1)	8.9 (+0.7)	7.1 (+1.3)	56	22.3	0.98	31.2	5.1
FH C (+2)	10.2 (+2.0)	7.7 (+1.9)	50	19.5	1.22	31.3	5.1
FH D (+4)	11.7 (+3.5)	8.7 (+2.9)	35	17.1	2.84	30.7	5.0
FH E (+8)	15.9 (+7.7)	13.7 (+7.9)	27	16.6	82.2	45.0	5.2

^a Soil temperature (for long-term averages) was measured at 10cm. ^b Vegetation period at Forhot from May to August, vegetation period at Achenkirch from May to October. ^c For Achenkirch, mean October 2013 soil temperature is given. ^d Measured from 0–10cm depth throughout the growing season. ^e Measured from 0-5cm depth from April to June 2013. ^f Measured from 0-10cm of mineral soil in July 2013.

2.1.3. The latitudinal studies

Root acclimation patterns were investigated in two latitudinal studies, with the first study focusing on morphological plasticity of Norway spruce and silver birch absorptive roots (Publication II), and the latter study viewing acclimation patterns of the whole fine root-rhizobiome, including root-colonizing EcM fungi and soil and rhizosphere bacteria (Publication III). In the first study (II), the spruce stands covered a latitudinal range from 48 to 68°N, including 5 temperate, 3 hemiboreal,

and 6 boreal stands of ages from 30 to 140 years. The birch stands covered a latitudinal range from 53 to 66°N and a longitudinal range from 2°W to 51°E and included 6 native forest stands in boreal, 8 in hemiboreal, and 1 in the temperate zone (Figure 1 in II and Tables S1 and S2 in II). In the latter study (III), 10 silver birch and 15 Norway spruce forests covering a latitudinal range from 48 to 69°N were studied (Figure 1 in III and Tables S1 and S2 in II).

The study sites for both tree species display gradients in climate (e.g. mean annual temperature and precipitation, growing season length) as well as in N deposition. The different fertility of studied spruce sites was reflected by soil C:N ratio. In general, the southern stands displayed higher fertility. Silver birch stands on native forest land all belonged to the fertile forest site types.

2.2. Fine and absorptive root biomass and morphology: sampling and measurements

Root samples were collected at the end of the growing season (September-October) from the organic and 0-20-cm mineral soil layer. In the latitudinal studies, 10-15 soil cores (38 mm in diamater) were taken per site for fine root biomass (FRB; g m⁻²) estimations and 8–10 samples per site to study absorptive root morphology, EcM community and birch rhizosphere bacterial community. At the FAHM site, 8 samples were taken per experimental plot for morphological studies in three consecutive years (16 samples per treatment, altogether 32 samples from the whole experimental site). Each plot comprised two quarters of different understory; four samples were collected from both quarters. At the ForHot site, one soil core (88 mm in diameter for 0-10-cm depth and 38 mm for 10-20-cm depth) was taken per plot for morphological analyses and FRB estimation (5 samples per warming level, altogether 25 samples from the whole experimental area). For morphological studies, the soil cores were further divided into three soil layers: 0-5, 5-10 and 10-20 cm, because of the approximately 2 °C increase in soil temperature per layer. At the Achenkirch site, 5 soil cores (50 mm in diameter) were taken per plot for morphological studies and an additional 3 soil cores per plot for FRB estimations, altogether 15 and 9 samples per treatment, respectively.

To determine the number of absorptive roots per m^2 , the root tips of two or three fine root fragments (which accounted for at least 1/5 of a sample) were counted. Fine roots were then dried at 65 °C for 48 h to constant weight and weighed to ±0.05 mg accuracy. Absorptive fine root biomass (aFRB; g m⁻²) was calculated by multiplying the mean absorptive root weight by the root tip number per m². The FRB and aFRB are presented per stand basal area (BA) to describe the functional relationship between the above- and below-ground parts of a forest stand and to facilitate comparison between sites with varying tree sizes and numbers. For morphological analyses, 2–5 random subsamples of first-to-third-order absorptive roots were taken per sample (20–30 living root tips per subsample). All morphological parameters were measured and calculated for the subsample level. Absorptive root length, projection area and mean diameter (D; mm) of a subsample were measured using WinRHIZO Pro 2003b software. After measuring, absorptive roots were dried at 70 °C until constant weight and weighed with an accuracy of ± 0.05 mg. The method for determining absorptive root morphological parameters: absorptive root length (L; mm), specific root area (SRA; m² kg⁻¹), specific root length (SRL; m g⁻¹), root tissue density (RTD; kg m⁻³), and branching frequency (B_W and B_L; mg⁻¹ and mm⁻¹) is given in detail in Ostonen et al., 1999.

2.3. Microbiological analyses

2.3.1. Ectomycorrhizal community analysis: sampling and identification

To determine the EcM community composition, the same amount of root samples were taken as described for root morphological sampling at the FAHM site (I), at the Achenkirch site (IV) and for all the sites in the latitudinal gradient (III). Root tips from three fine root fragments (5–7cm in length) were taken from each sample and subjected to morphotyping on the basis of mantle color, texture, and the presence of emanating hyphae and rhizomorphs. The relative abundance of each morphotype was estimated and all the morphotypes were assigned into exploration types (III, IV; Agerer, 2006) or classified as hydrophilic or hydrophobic (I). Two to three representative root tips of each morphotype per sample were subjected to DNA analysis. Fungal taxa were identified by use of sequence analysis of the nuclear rDNA Internal Transcriber Spacer (ITS) region (a detailed description is presented in Publication IV). Sequences were assigned to operational taxonomic units (OTUs) based on a 97.0% ITS barcoding threshold (Tedersoo et al., 2003).

Extramatrical mycelium biomass per EcM root tip (μ g cm⁻¹) of each stand was calculated using biomass coefficients for different exploration types (calculations in Weigt et al., 2012, 2011) and the frequency of dominating EcM morphotypes (percentage of root samples colonized).

2.3.2. Bacterial community analysis

The abundance of bacterial communities in bulk soil was evaluated by bacterial 16S rRNA gene copy numbers, using a quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR). Bacterial community profiling was performed by sequencing bacterial 16S rRNA gene fragments on the Illumina ® HiSeq 2000 (Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA, USA). The details about used primers, qPCR conditions, calculation

method, the preparation of amplicons for sequencing and bioinformatic analysis can be found in Publication III.

2.4. Statistical Analyses

Statistical analyses were carried out using STATISTICA 7.1 (StatSoft, 2005), R (R Core Team, 2013), PERMDISP (Anderson, 2004), CANOCO (ter Braak and Šmilauer, 2002) and EstimateS 9.1.0 (Colwell, 2013) software. The significance level was set at α =0.05 for all the analyses. Root variables were checked for normality using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov, Lilliefors and Shapiro-Wilk tests; homogeneity of variance was assessed using Levene's test.

The effect of soil warming on FRB, aFRB and absorptive root morphological traits was checked with the t-test (for the Achenkirch data) and using simple linear regression analysis and one-way ANOVA (for the ForHot data) (IV). The warming response of FRB/BA, aFRB/BA and RTD on the soil temperature gradient was modelled by the Gompertz function. To determine which soil properties influenced absorptive root morphology and fine root biomass in addition to soil temperature at ForHot, partial correlations were found and all soil parameters that correlated with a given root trait with a probability level of p<0.1 were included in forward stepwise multiple regression analyses. In the latitudinal studies (II, III), linear and non-linear modelling tools were used to analyse relationships between root traits, environmental variables and latitude. When assessing the effect of tree species and forest zone on root traits; climate, soil and stand characteristics were used as covariates (III). Student's t-test was applied to verify the differences in trait means and PI values between spruce and birch (II). Repeated measures ANOVA was used on repeatedly measured data to evaluate the influence of the study year and the effect of humidification and understory type over all years (I, II). Two-way ANOVA was employed to test the effect of humidification and understory type in each separate year (I).

To detect and visualize relationships between root traits, sites, treatments and environmental parameters, redundancy analysis (RDA) was used (I–IV). To evaluate the effect of treatments and environmental factors and illustrate the dissimilarities in EcM communities, the canonical correspondence analysis (CCA) was employed (I, IV). The significance of RDA and CCA results was tested with the Monte Carlo permutation procedure in CANOCO. At FAHM (I), the adonis function (vegan package in R) was used in addition to CCA to evaluate the effect of treatments, understory types and environmental factors on the fungal community species composition (whether a species appears in a sample or not). The difference in colonization percentages of hydrophilic and hydrophobic morphotypes between the treatments and understory types was checked by two-way ANOVA. For the EcM community analyses at Achenkirch (IV), OTU accumulation (rarefaction) curves and the minimum richness estimators, Chao1, Jackknife1 and ACE were calculated to evaluate the sufficiency of sample size and to estimate the proportion of unseen OTUs at the site. The differences in colonization percentages of dominant genera and exploration types, OTU richnesses and Shannon diversity indices between the treatments were checked using the Mann– Whitney U Test. The centroids and the dispersions of the two fungal communities were compared using PERMDISP. In the latitudinal study (III), Spearman rank correlation coefficients were used to describe the effects of root traits and environmental factors on EcM exploration types.

To analyse the trilateral relationships between tree roots, soil bacterial and EcM community structure across the latitudinal gradient of silver birch stands, phylogenetic molecular ecological networks (pMENs) based on bacterial OTU data were constructed for bulk soil and rhizosphere by application of the Molecular Ecological Network Analyses Pipeline (MENAP) (Deng et al., 2012). Kendall rank correlation coefficients were calculated to test the relationships between bacterial community diversity parameters and root morphology and soil parameters, as well as to test the relationship between the bacterial OTU abundances and stand geographical location (distance from the equator). Relationships between soil variables, root morphological parameters and the obtained network modules were analysed using RDA. In case of the network modules that were related to stand distance from the equator (Mantel test), the correlation of module OTU relative abundances to the stand distance from the equator was tested using linear regression analysis. Procrustes analyses, using ordinations of the bacterial (whole community and pMEN modules of the rhizosphere and bulk soil) and EcM fungal communities (at the functional group level), were applied to explore the relationships between bacterial and EcM fungal community structure in the studied forest soils.

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1. The effect of elevated air humidity on birch fine roots and ectomycorrhizal community

Humidification affected EcM root morphology significantly throughout the three study years (Figure 1). Within each study year, humidification had extensive influence in 2009 and 2010 (the second and third year of humidification); however, the number of morphological parameters that significantly differed between the treatments decreased greatly by 2011 (the fourth year of humidification) (Table 2 in I). Humidified birches reacted after the second year of humidification (in 2009) by forming absorptive roots with higher SRA and SRL, which was caused by lower values of RTD. This was especially pronounced in quarters with early-successional grasses, which seemed to have initially caused strong underground competition and additional stress for the roots of silver birch by producing the predominant proportion of the total fine root biomass in humidified plots (Kukumägi et al., 2014). Also, leaf N concentrations were significantly lower in humidified plots than in control in 2009, indicating malnutrition, although the experimental plantation was established on fertile abandoned arable land. Our observations are in good agreement with the results of Rosenvald et al. (2011a), where high SRL and SRA values were symptomatic of low leaf N, reflecting a decrease in the nutritional status of birches.

By 2010, after canopy closure, the biomass of understory vegetation dropped drastically, especially in the C plots, which were most disturbed by the midsummer drought, and the effect of understory on root morphology disappeared. Inversely to 2009, the RTD of control plots was lower than that of humidified plots after the dry summer of 2010, indicating that humidification mitigated the impact of limited precipitation. Nevertheless, roots in humidified plots were longer, thinner and had higher SRL and less root tips per unit of length in 2010. By the fourth year of humidification, the differences between the treatments were evident only in root diameter and B_L – humidified birches were growing thinner roots with lower B_L .

Along with morphological studies, measurements of fine root biomass have been carried out on the FAHM experimental site. Four years of humidification resulted in significantly more fine root biomass and higher number of root tips per m² in humidified plots (Rosenvald et al., 2014), while in 2007, before humidification commenced, there were no differences between treatments (K. Lõhmus, unpublished). By 2011, leaf N concentrations had also risen to be significantly higher in humidified plots, compared to control plots (Rosenvald et al., 2014). The initial morphological response of absorptive roots in humidified plots was complemented by a subsequent increase in fine root biomass, which together seem to have eliminated the obstruction in nutrient uptake.



Figure 1. Ordination biplot based on redundancy analysis (RDA) of absorptive root morphological parameters of silver birch, indicating the effect of humidification throughout three study years. Open triangles depict the overall means of the study years. The blue continuous circles group samples from humidified plots; the red dashed circles surround samples from control plots of each year. The means of each experimental quarter (n = 214 to 404 analysed absorptive roots) are indicated by dots. Abbreviations: C – control, H – humidification, G – early-successional grass understory, F – diverse 'forest' understory. Figure from Publication I.

According to redundancy analysis, morphological parameters correlated significantly with air and soil temperature and moisture of July and October, SOM, soil Ca, Mg, N concentration and soil pH. Altogether, these factors accounted for 40.9% of the total variation in morphological root traits.

Sequence analysis revealed 64 fungal taxa (OTUs), of which 44 were singletons, (i.e. occurring in one sample). Among these 64 OTUs, species-level identification could be provided to 32 taxa from 16 lineages. Overall, the most frequent OTUs were *Paxillus involutus, Tomentella cinerascens* and *Tomentella sublilacina*. Quarters with diverse 'forest' understory exhibited a non-significant trend of having more OTUs identified. Three years of humidification caused a significant shift towards the dominance of hydrophilic morphotypes in the fungal community (Figure 2). The mean colonization percentages of the hydrophilic morphotypes were 33% in control plots and 72% in humidified plots. The most abundant colonizers of humidified plots were representatives of the /tomentella-thelephora lineage (*Tomentella* spp.), characterized by contact, short-distance, or medium-distance smooth exploration types and hydrophilic hyphae. This shift in



Figure 2. The species-environmental variables biplot of canonical correspondence analysis (CCA), which illustrates the shift in the EcM fungal community towards the dominance of hydrophilic morphotypes caused by humidification (Monte Carlo permutation test, p<0.05). Blue font color indicates hydrophilic morphotypes, red font color – hydrophobic morphoypes; black species produced both hydrophilic and hydrophobic morphotypes in different samples. Large triangles depict the treatments and the two understory types (C – control, H – humidification, F – diverse 'forest' understory, G – early-successional grass understory). Abbreviations: Cen geo – *Cenococcum geophilum*, Ent sin – *Entoloma sinuatum*, Ent nid – *Entoloma nidorosum*, Heb pus – *Hebeloma velutipes*, Ino curv – *Inocybe curvipes*, Lacc tort – *Laccaria tortilis*, Lact nec – *Lactarius necator*, Lact pub – *Lactarius pubescens*, Lec rig – *Leccinum rigidipes*, Pax inv – *Paxillus involutus*, Tom cin – *Tomentella cinerascens*, Tom ell – *Tomentella subclavigera*, Tom subil – *Tomentella subclavi*

community composition coincides with the notion of low extramatrical biomass producing hydrophilic morphotypes proliferating in humid environments (Unestam and Sun, 1995) compared to hydrophobic fungi, whose complex extramatrical systems can be extremely disturbed by even brief drenching (Stenström, 1991). *Tomentella* spp. have also been shown to have high functional plasticity, explaining their high abundance and disturbance tolerance (Rineau and Courty, 2011). Among other enzymes, these species have exhibited high activities of cellobiohydrolase, β -glucosidase and laccase, but also produce acid phosphatase and leucine aminopeptidase (Buée et al., 2007; Courty et al., 2005; Tedersoo et al., 2012). These enzymes are essential in fresh litter degradation, which could be beneficial, as humidification has also been reported to increase understory root turnover (Lõhmus et al., 2019).

When all environmental variables were analysed conjointly, the species composition of the EcM fungal community was significantly affected only by variation in soil pH and August soil water potential, so humidification influenced the species composition indirectly.

3.2. The effect of experimental soil warming on spruce fine roots and ectomycorrhizal community

At the ForHot site, soil warming reduced both FRB and aFRB significantly from 753 ± 171 (mean \pm SE) and 100 ± 28 g m⁻² at the ambient level, respectively, to 50 ± 27 and 8 ± 7 g m⁻² in the warmest plots (E; +8 °C), respectively. At Achenkirch, no significant temperature effect on neither FRB nor aFRB was revealed, although there was a similar trend of smaller biomass values in warmed plots. The sharp decline in FRB/BA started slightly below +4 °C (D plots), followed by a rapid decrease in aFRB/BA from +4 °C onwards and had reached a plateau by +6 °C (E plots) (Figure 3). This might partly explain the absence of a significant biomass response at the Achenkirch site, where the warming level was +4 °C above the ambient: at ForHot, there were also no significant differences in fine and absorptive root biomass between the ambient and D plots (+4 °C) yet. The other possible reason arises from differences in experimental setup: at Achenkirch, warming took place only during the growing season and only parts of the individual tree root system were exposed to it. At ForHot, spruces had to endure persistently warmer soils surrounding their whole root system throughout the year. Therefore, differences in the intensity, the seasonal duration and the spatial extent of warming may create the differences in the magnitude of the response of FRB and aFRB in different experiments. Nevertheless, a decrease in FRB or an increase in fine root mortality has also been documented in other soil warming studies (Majdi and Öhrvik, 2004; Nishar et al., 2017; Wan et al., 2004), agreeing with our findings. On absorptive root level, RTD followed a similar reduction as FRB and aFRB and could be indicative of faster root turnover as estimated by W. Borken et al. (unpublished data) for Achenkirch and P. Sigurðsson et al. (unpublished data) for ForHot. In respect of above-ground growth, stand basal area started decreasing from +3 °C onwards, which was due to increased tree mortality.

Soil warming significantly affected absorptive root morphology at both sites and in the same direction: in warmer soils, spruces formed longer and lessbranched absorptive roots with higher SRL and SRA, and lower RTD. In contrast to RTD, which had significantly decreased at +4 °C at Achenkirch and started declining from +6 °C onwards at ForHot, significant changes in the other



Figure 3. The effect of soil warming on fine (filled circles) and absorptive root biomass (open circles) per stand basal area at the ForHot soil temperature gradient (means \pm SE). Figure from Publication IV.

morphological parameters (SRL, SRA, L and B_L) appeared already from lower warming levels (+3 °C onwards). The decrease in B_L and increase in L can be attributed to a shift from root tip formation to root elongation, which may partly be indicating a change in the fungal colonizer (Makita et al., 2012; Ostonen et al., 2009; van der Heijden and Kuyper, 2003), while the reduction in RTD suggests reduced lifetime of absorptive roots, but also higher metabolic activity (Hajek et al., 2014; Ostonen et al., 2011; Wahl and Ryser, 2000). Whether the main driver of changes in root morphology is a shift in root colonizers or changes in root tip production and longevity is indistinguishable, as the former also affects the latter (Guo et al., 2008).

RTD was distinct from the other morphological traits as it was extensively influenced by soil fertility, decreasing towards lower C:N (Table S2 in IV), and such a strong association has also been shown on the latitudinal gradient (III).

At both sites, branching, absorptive root length and weight (W) experienced the largest variation among the morphological traits (CV varied from 27 to 47), followed by SRL and SRA (CV from 16 to 29). RTD and D varied the least (CV from 14 to 15). This coincides with observations from the latitudinal study (II), where branching, L and W displayed highest plasticity for Norway spruce (CV varied from 25 to 31; PI varied from 0.60 to 0.68) and are proposed to reflect high relevance in the acclimation process.

The +4 °C increase in soil temperature at the Achenkirch site led to the formation of a more varied EcM community and a significant increase in the colonization of *Tomentella* spp. in warmed plots – a genus specialized for nutrient uptake in close vicinity of the roots and an affinity towards labile inorganic forms of N (Agerer, 2001; Cox et al., 2010; Kranabetter et al., 2015) (Figure 4).



Figure 4. The species-environmental variables biplot of canonical correspondence analysis (CCA), which illustrates the effect of warming on the EcM fungal community (singletons excluded) (Monte Carlo permutation test, p<0.01). Altogether, the plots explained 87% of variation in the EcM community structure. Red font color signifies OTUs that were found only in warmed plots, and blue font color represents OTUs present only in the ambient plots. The black OTUs were present in both treatments. Large triangles depict the experimental plots. W – warming, A – ambient, Cen geo – *Cenococcum geophilum*, Ino pet – *Inocybe petiginosa*, Ino pel – *Inocybe pelargonium*, Ino nit – *Inocybe nitidiuscula*, Ino sp – *Inocybe* sp., Bol lur – *Boletus luridus*, Tom fus – *Tomentella fuscocinerea*, Tom sp – *Tomentella* sp., Cort sub – *Cortinarius subsertipes*, Cort gla – *Cortinarius glaucopus* var *olivaceus*, Seb epi – *Sebacina epigaea*, Seb inc – *Sebacina incrustans*, Amp sp – *Amphinema* sp., Rus sp – *Russula* sp. Figure from Publication IV.

Because Achenkirch is a N-rich site, soil warming did not result in any significant differences in soil N availability (Schindlbacher et al., 2015; Schnecker et al., 2016). Instead, the need for other nutrients (P, K) might have been driving the changes in the EcM community. Nutrient cycling was presumably faster in the warmed plots at Achenkirch because of intensified fine root turnover and *Tomentella* spp. have been demostrated to exhibit high activities of enzymes that are essential in fresh litter degradation and P acquisition (Buée et al., 2007; Courty et al., 2005; Tedersoo et al., 2012). In addition to the increase in *Tomentella* spp. colonization, morphotypes forming long-distance exploration type (represented by *Boletus luridus*) were present only in the warmed plots, although in low abundance. Fungi characterized by long-distance exploration type have been generally associated with great enzymatic capabilities required to access nutrients

from SOM and fresh litter (Tedersoo et al., 2012). In addition, long-distance exploration types display higher drought tolerance (Lilleskov et al., 2009; Morgado et al., 2015; Wiklund et al., 1995), which may be especially beneficial as the frequency of dry spells is predicted to increase in the Alps (Gobiet et al., 2014).

On the ForHot site, an investigation of the EcM fungal community (determined from meshbags) revealed an increase in the abundance of ascomycetes driven by *Wilcoxina rehmii*, a species that has been commonly observed after fire or logging and is suggested to possess elevated potential for necrotrophy and facultative saprotrophy (Rosenstock et al., 2019). Soil warming likely increased fine root turnover and mortality, creating favorable substrate for such taxa. Since the use of ingrowth mesh bags discriminates against fungi that do not produce abundant extramatrical mycelium, such as species of the contact exploration type, these results are not directly comparable to results obtained by sampling root tips. Also, the fungal community exhibited very low diversity, probably due to the scarcity of forest in Iceland and the non-native host species (Rosenstock et al., 2019).

3.3. Patterns in tree root morphology, biomass and soil microbial community along the latitudinal gradient

On the latitudinal gradient, both the proportion of aFRB of the total FRB and aFRB per stand BA increased towards the northern boreal forests for both spruce and birch, agreeing with findings from other latitudinal studies (Ostonen et al., 2011; Zadworny et al., 2016). Even when the faster fine root turnover in temperate forests is taken into account, the investment to aFRB/BA is still more than four times higher in boreal forests (III). The absorptive roots of birches growing in the North were significantly thinner and had higher values of SRL, which was the root trait that exhibited highest plasticity for birch (Table 4 in II). Spruces growing in the North formed longer absorptive roots with higher RTD and lower B_W, which was the trait that displayed highest plasticity for spruce. Also, spruce fine root longevity was significantly higher in the North.

These results imply that tree species have different acclimation-indicative root traits in response to changing environments. Birch ensures morphological acclimation across forest zones by changing SRL of the absorptive roots, which is mainly (61%) determined by the variation in root diameter. Similarly, higher values of SRL and smaller root diameter were recorded for birches growing in mine areas in comparison to native birch forests (II). The sensitivity of SRL to the tree nutrient status and environmental stress has been shown for birch also in earlier studies (Rosenvald, 2011). The acclimation of spruce absorptive roots is based mainly on the variation of B_W , which is chiefly (41%) determined by the variation of L (II).

Silver birch as a pioneer species must have a broader tolerance to environmental conditions across multiple environments; however, the mean PI of all morphological traits did not differ between early-successional birch and latesuccessional spruce. In addition, the morphology of the studied tree species became more similar towards southern forests (Figure 5), which can be explained by more fertile and closer to optimal growing conditions in the temperate forests (II).



Figure 5. Mean values of (A) the diameter, (B) length, (C) branching frequency (root tip frequency per unit of weight – RTF) and (D) specific root length of birch and spruce in three forest zones: boreal, hemiboreal, and temperate. Average values and standard errors of the sample are shown. For birch forests, only stands that were older than 10 years and growing on native forest land were included and only one stand from the temperate zone was included. Figure from Publication II.

The community structure of the dominating EcM fungi explained 47% of the variation in spruce and 57% of the variation in birch absorptive root morphology (III). For spruce, it has been shown that RTD decreases and SRA increases from contact- to long-distance exploration type and the proportion of morphotypes forming long-distance exploration type is higher in temperate forests compared to boreal forests (Ostonen et al., 2011). Although the estimations for extramatrical mycelium biomass per unit of absorptive root length were higher in southern

forests, taking into account the higher number of longer root tips in the North, the estimated extramatrical mycelium biomass was 2–4 times higher in the North.

Regarding the structure and diversity of the bacterial community in the bulk soil and rhizosphere of silver birch forests, a latitudinal effect was found for one bulk soil module, where four bacterial phylotypes were negatively related to the distance from the equator. Soil characteristics had a strong effect on bacterial community structure, describing 48% of the bulk soil and 51% of the rhizosphere bacterial community variation. The driving soil factors were pH and P content. Soil C:N ratio was negatively correlated to the number of OTUs in the rhizosphere, with a bacterial consortium (module H) containing *Fluviicola* gaining predominance in soils with higher N content. Bacteria from this genus prefer rich soils and are able to degrade persistent organic molecules in the rhizosphere (Song et al., 2016).

Strong relationships were found between absorptive root morphology, EcM fungal community structure and bacterial community structure in the bulk soil and rhizosphere in birch stands. Out of root morphological traits, bacterial community structure and diversity were most related to variation in root weight, RTD and branching frequency, which suggests that a larger number of bacterial species were more evenly distributed around younger root tips, probably because of better substrate supply from the root (Folman et al., 2001).

Overall, soil C:N ratio was found to explain most of the variability in absorptive root and extramatrical mycelium biomass, RTD, root N concentration and rhizosphere bacterial community structure.

3.4. Possible sources of stress regarding soil warming, humidification and growing in the North

The study sites for both tree species between latitudes 48 and 68°N displayed gradients in climate (e.g. mean annual temperature and precipitation, growing season length) as well as in N deposition. The varying fertility of the studied spruce sites was reflected by differences in soil C:N ratio. In general, the southern stands displayed higher fertility. Silver birch stands on native forest land belonged all to the fertile forest site types, so for this species other climate factors (low MAT, short growing season length) must have been limiting in the North. Both soil warming experimental sites exhibited optimal C:N values and sufficient soil water content, ruling N or water availability out as growth limiting factors. Thus, the possible sources of stress for spruces growing in warmed soils might have been soil nutrient imbalance, enhanced root metabolism and maintenance respiration, or higher pathogen and herbivore activities (Gill and Jackson, 2000; McCormack and Guo, 2014; Schindlbacher et al., 2009). At the FAHM site, elevated air humidity has been shown to affect trees through a number of concurrent mechanisms, such as impaired nutrient uptake, nutrient imbalance, increased soil moisture that may lead to hypoxia and metabolic stress, and higher

frequency of fungal pathogen damage (Sellin et al., 2017). In addition, the impact of higher air humidity was initially amplified by early-successional grass understory, which caused strong below-ground competition.

3.5. General acclimation mechanisms to limiting growing conditions

All studied species reacted to nutrient limitation or otherwise suboptimal growing conditions by actively modifying their absorptive root morphology, which was the first response both temporally (I) and in terms of treatment intensity (IV). At the FAHM site, morphological differences were largest in the first two study years (second and third year of treatment), being replaced by an increase in FRB by the third study year (fourth year of treatment). On the geothermal soil temperature gradient, root morphology responded to smaller temperature increases, while FRB and aFRB decreased significantly at larger warming levels. At the same time, morphological changes proved to be persistent even after 9 years of warming in a 130-year-old forest (IV) and on the latitudinal gradient (II, III).

A general morphological reaction to environmental stress was forming longer and less-branched absorptive roots with higher SRL and SRA (Figure 6). This was observed for all the species included in this thesis and also for Scots pine, which has been analysed thoroughly in Publication III, but omitted from this thesis. Also, thinner absorptive roots were produced in the North by birch and pine and in relation to humidification by birch. A similar acclimation pattern of forming thinner roots with higher SRL in cold habitats and in infertile growing conditions has been demonstrated to occur globally across a large number of species (Freschet et al., 2017; Holdaway et al., 2011; Kramer-Walter et al., 2016), which permits us to conclude that the observed responses reflect general acclimation patterns to environmental stress and nutrient deficiency. Higher values of SRL and SRA have been shown to be indicative of malnutrition (Rosenvald, 2011) and are thought to reflect enhanced resource uptake at lower biomass investments, high root cost efficiency and fast growth (Comas and Eissenstat, 2004; Ostonen et al., 2011; Weemstra et al., 2016). Kramer-Walter et al. (2016) and Holdaway et al. (2011) reason that producing thinner roots with higher SRL may be useful when foraging for nutrients, which are spatially dispersed or display poor diffusivity, such as P, while forming thicker roots with lower SRL in productive environments may be beneficial as a thicker root cortex might support higher metabolic rates in fertile soils and have enhanced pathogen resistance, also necessary for growing in the warmer southern soils of our studied latitudinal gradient. Longer and less branched roots imply a shift from root tip formation to root elongation, increased soil exploration and a change in the EcM colonizers.



Figure 6. Main changes in absorptive root morphology (blue columns), absorptive root biomass (black columns) and the EcM fungal community (white columns) in A) the air humidification experiment, B) the soil warming experiments and C) northwards along the latitudinal gradient. Abbreviations: D – absorptive root diameter (mm), SRL – specific root length (m g^{-1}), L – absorptive root length (mm), B_L – branching per length (no mm⁻¹), B_W – branching per weight (no mg⁻¹), RTD – root tissue density (kg m⁻³), aFRB/BA – absorptive root biomass per basal area (kg m⁻²), LDET – long-distance exploration type.

RTD stood out from the other morphological traits for its larger sensitivity to soil fertility, increasing towards soils with a higher C:N ratio both in the soil warming experiments (IV) and northwards on the latitudinal gradient (III), which is a shared response for a number of species (Kramer-Walter et al., 2016) and may reflect an alternatively advantageous strategy of forming longer-living roots in infertile and colder soils. On the other hand, experimental soil warming caused a reduction in tissue density, which indicates shorter lifespan in warmed soils. Shorter spruce fine root lifespan has also been reported in relation to experimental soil warming in Flakaliden and southwards along a latitudinal gradient in Finland (Leppälammi-Kujansuu et al., 2014b, 2014a).

Both silver birch and Norway spruce responded to obstructed nutrient uptake, whether in northern forests with high soil C:N ratio or induced by air humidification, by increasing FRB/BA and aFRB/BA (Rosenvald et al., 2014 and III). A proportional increase in root biomass, especially in the absorptive root fraction, has been shown to be a common pattern across a large number of species in colder conditions (Reich et al., 2014; Zadworny et al., 2016) and for Scots pine in our latitudinal gradient study (III).

The higher proportion of fine root biomass in colder climate seems to be largely genetically determined (Last et al., 1983; Reich et al., 2014; Zadworny et al., 2016). It has also been shown, that tree genotype influences the root-colonizing EcM community structure and absorptive root branching (Velmala et al., 2013). Although attempts have been made to evaluate the contribution of intraspecific heritability to variation in root morphology (Salmela et al., 2020; Senior et al., 2019), the extent to which root morphological responses are under genetic control and how much they reflect phenotypic plasticity remains unclear. Answering this question calls for the common-garden approach and using clone trees in climate change manipulation experiments. For example, the latter method has been employed at the FAHM-site.

The root associated microbial community – in the current work: EcM fungi and rhizosphere bacteria – showed high adaptability to changes in their growing environment. Regarding the EcM community, humidification led to an increase in the proportion of hydrophilic morphotypes and *Tomentella* spp. (I). In warmer soils, there was also a rise in the proportion of *Tomentella* spp. and fungi characterized by long-distance exploration type (species belonging to the /boletus lineage) (IV). These alterations in the EcM community could be related to increased root turnover concurring with both air humidification and higher soil temperatures. Both in the humidification experiment (Truu et al., 2017) and along the latitudinal gradient (III), multilateral relationships were observed between absorptive root morphology, functional types of colonising EcM fungi, and rhizosphere and soil bacterial community structure, which demonstrates that rootrhizobiome acclimation is characterized by strong inter-relatedness between plant traits and soil microbe communities.

3.6. Implications for forest below-ground processes in relation to climate change

It is possible that C allocation below-ground via fine roots will increase in a warmer world with elevated levels of air humidity and CO₂ (Litton and Giardina, 2008; Lõhmus et al., 2019; Rosenvald et al., 2014; Wu et al., 2011), but this does not necessarily implicate increased standing fine root biomass as root respiration and mortality is expected to increase alongside root production (Leppälammi-Kujansuu et al., 2014b; Majdi and Öhrvik, 2004; Pendall et al., 2004; Pumpanen et al., 2012). Regarding standing fine root biomass, the effects of multiple climate factors, such as increased temperature and humidity that are discussed in this thesis, may interact by cancelling each other out (Leuzinger et al., 2011; Wu et al., 2011).

In addition to fine root litter, an important source of soil C is the fungal mycelium (Godbold et al., 2006; Wallander et al., 2004). Warming has been shown to cause an increase in the proportion of taxa that form larger extramatrical mycelial biomass (Deslippe et al., 2011; Ostonen et al., 2011; III, IV), while intensified fine root turnover and elevated soil moisture may favor hydrophilic and low-mycelial-biomass-forming taxa, such as Tomentella spp. (I, IV). However, predicting the C input into soil based on the proportion of different exploration types should be conducted with caution as it has been shown that species known to produce large extra-matrical mycelial biomass may direct more assimilated C into respiration rather than mycorrhizal biomass (Heinonsalo et al., 2010). Also, differences in absorptive root biomass must be taken into account when assessing changes in fungal biomass. For example, it has been estimated that due to a larger amount of EcM root tips in the soil in humid conditions, the amount of C entering the soil as hyphae may still be almost twice as large compared to control, even with the larger proportion of low-biomass-forming hydrophilic morphotypes (Lõhmus et al., 2019).

Extending the uncertainty regarding future carbon flows even further, the potentially higher fine root and mycelial litter inputs may not result in increased C sequestration in the soil, as SOM decomposition is also expected to intensify with warming, when soil moisture is not limiting (Liu et al., 2017; Pendall et al., 2004; Walker et al., 2018). This may initially increase nutrient mobilization and enhance plant growth, but eventually result in the depletion of soil resources and lead to reduced plant and microbial growth (Andresen et al., 2016; Walker et al., 2018). Elevated humidity and temperature have been shown to affect the soil bacterial community in such a way that changes in C metabolism, P and N turnover, mineral weathering and shifts in SOC quality can be assumed (Liu et al., 2017; Truu et al., 2017; III). Possible nutrient imbalances may arise from these changes and inhibit plant growth, as has already been demonstrated for European forests (Penuelas et al., 2020).

In order to make more accurate predictions about the effects of future climate on forest ecosystems, manipulation studies need to be run and monitored for longer periods, as it has been shown that ecosystem responses often change in time (Andresen et al., 2016). Since most studies have focused on subsets of taxa, interactions or processes, there is still limited knowledge about how the ecosystems respond as a whole (Walker et al., 2020). Also, the interactive effects of different climate change factors need to be comprehensively analysed, as they may not always be additive (Dieleman et al., 2012; Leuzinger et al., 2011; Wu et al., 2011). Furthermore, the mechanisms through which climate change factors influence ecosystems are not completely understood. For this reason, for example, an additional irrigation treatment has been established at the FAHM site to decipher, whether the humidification effect was caused by an increase in soil moisture, reduction in transpiration or some other factor.
4. CONCLUSIONS

This thesis demonstrates how two climate-change factors – an increase in air humidity and soil warming – affect the fine roots and root-associated microbial communities of birch (*Betula pendula*) and spruce (*Picea abies* and *P. sitchensis*); and identifies root traits that change most plastically for both species. In this work, findings from field manipulation experiments and a small-scale natural soil temperature gradient are compared to patterns witnessed along latitudinal gradients.

Birches and spruces responded to increased environmental humidity and warming through alterations in a number of root traits as well as shifts in the rhizosphere microbial community, and these changes were strongly inter-related. Absorptive root morphology proved to be very sensitive to environmental change. Morphological responses were detected before changes in fine root biomass allocation, both temporally (I) and in terms of warming intensity (IV). The similar root reactions, irrespective of tree species, stand age and location, or experimental approach, permit us to conclude that the observed responses reflect general acclimation patterns.

A general morphological reaction to environmental stress (i.e. humidification, experimental soil warming, growing in the North) was forming longer and lessbranched absorptive roots with higher SRL and SRA. Higher values of SRL and SRA have been shown to be indicative of malnutrition and are thought to reflect enhanced nutrient uptake at lower biomass investments, while longer and lessbranched roots indicate a shift from root tip formation to root elongation and changes in the EcM colonizers. Both species responded to obstructed nutrient uptake, whether in northern forests with high soil C:N ratio or induced by air humidification, by increasing fine and absorptive root biomass. On the latitudinal gradient, the increase in root biomass was accompanied by an increase in root tissue density and fine root lifespan. Experimental soil warming, on the other hand, led to a decrease in root biomass and tissue density, indicating intensified root turnover.

Although Norway spruce and silver birch showed similar patterns in absorptive fine root biomass along the latitudinal gradient and similar overall morphological plasticity, the root traits with highest plasticity differed between the species. For birch, the most plastic root trait was SRL, which was determined by variation in absorptive root diameter. Birch absorptive roots were significantly thinner and had higher SRL in the North and the same response emerged in relation to air humidification. For spruce, branching frequency (both per length and weight), absorptive root length and weight displayed highest plasticity, which is suggested to reflect higher relevance of these characteristics in the acclimation process. Thus, the set of root traits that are relied on in the acclimation process is distinctive to tree species.

The EcM community showed high adaptability to changes in the environment. Humidification caused a shift towards the dominance of hydrophilic EcM morphotypes and an increase in the abundance of *Tomentella* spp. In warmer soils, there was also a rise in the proportion of *Tomentella* spp. and fungi characterized by long-distance exploration type. A similar increase in the proportion of long-distance exploration type was observed southwards along the latitudinal gradient for spruce. These shifts in the EcM community could partly be related to increased root turnover concurring with both air humidification and higher soil temperatures. The community structure of the dominating EcM fungi explained a large proportion of the variation in absorptive root morphology (47% for spruce and 57% for birch). For spruce, it has been shown that RTD decreases and SRA therefore increases from contact- to long-distance exploration type.

Strong multilateral relationships were also found between absorptive root morphology, EcM fungal community structure and bacterial community structure in the bulk soil and rhizosphere in birch stands. Out of root morphological traits, bacterial community structure and diversity were most related to variation in root tip weight, RTD and branching frequency, which suggests that a larger number of bacterial species were more evenly distributed around younger root tips, probably because of better substrate supply from the root. Regarding abiotic factors, soil characteristics, such as C:N ratio, pH and P content, had strongest influence on the bacterial community structure. Overall, soil C:N ratio was the factor found to explain most of the variability in a number of absorptive root traits and microbial community structure along the latitudinal gradient.

This thesis provides valuable knowledge about the prospective acclimation patterns of birch and spruce fine roots and rhizobiomes in relation to climate change and demonstrates the involvement of all the members and components of the root-rhizobiome complex in the forest acclimation process. Also, the novelty of the work is exploring the response curves of fine root traits along the soil warming gradient up to the die-off edge of the forest and the temporal dynamics of root responses to elevated humidity. The qualitative changes that we witness in the root-rhizobiome translate into quantitative changes in ecosystem nutrient fluxes and our results underline the need for future research to focus more on interactions within the root-rhizobiome, on the temporal dynamics in ecosystem responses and the interactive effects of different climate change factors. We emphasise the importance of studying the ecosystem in as much entirety as possible, since strong complementarity appears in the responses of different organism groups and plant traits to environmental change.

REFERENCES

- Adamczyk, B., Sietiö, O.M., Straková, P., Prommer, J., Wild, B., Hagner, M., Pihlatie, M., Fritze, H., Richter, A., Heinonsalo, J., 2019. Plant roots increase both decomposition and stable organic matter formation in boreal forest soil. Nature Communications 10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-11993-1
- Agerer, R., 2006. Fungal relationships and structural identity of their ectomycorrhizae. Mycological Progress 5, 67–107. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11557-006-0505-x
- Agerer, R., 2001. Exploration types of ectomycorrhizae A proposal to classify ectomycorrhizal mycelial systems according to their patterns of differentiation and putative ecological importance. Mycorrhiza 11, 107–114. https://doi.org/doi:10.1007/s005720100108
- Anderson, M.J., 2004. PERMDISP: a FORTRAN computer program for permutational analysis of multivariate dispersions (for any two-factor ANOVA design) using permutation tests. Department of Statistics, University of Auckland, New Zealand.
- Andreassen, K., Solberg, S., Tveito, O.E., Lystad, S.L., 2006. Regional differences in climatic responses of Norway spruce (*Picea abies* L. Karst) growth in Norway. Forest Ecology and Management 222, 211–221.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2005.10.029

- Andresen, L.C., Müller, C., de Dato, G., Dukes, J.S., Emmett, B.A., Estiarte, M., Jentsch, A., Kröel-Dulay, G., Lüschner, A., Niu, S., Penuelas, J., Reich, P.B., Reinsch, S., Ogaya, R., Schmidt, I.K., Schneider, M.K., Sternberg, M., Tietema, A., Zhu, K., Bilton, M.C., 2016. Shifting Impacts of Climate Change: Long-Term Patterns of Plant Response to Elevated CO₂, Drought, and Warming Across Ecosystems, in: Advances in Ecological Research. pp. 437–473.
- Bakker, M.R., Augusto, L., Achat, D.L., 2006. Fine root distribution of trees and understory in mature stands of maritime pine (*Pinus pinaster*) on dry and humid sites. Plant and Soil 286, 37–51. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-006-9024-4
- Beier, C., Beierkuhnlein, C., Wohlgemuth, T., Penuelas, J., Emmett, B., Körner, C., de Boeck, H., Christensen, J.H., Leuzinger, S., Janssens, I.A., Hansen, K., 2012. Precipitation manipulation experiments – challenges and recommendations for the future. Ecology Letters 15, 899–911. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2012.01793.x
- Bergmann, J., Weigelt, A., Plas, F. van der, Laughlin, D.C., Kuyper, T.W., Guerrero-Ramirez, N., Valverde-Barrantes, O.J., Bruelheide, H., Freschet, G.T., Iversen, C.M., Kattge, J., McCormack, M.L., Meier, I.C., Rillig, M.C., Roumet, C., Semchenko, M., Sweeney, C.J., Ruijven, J. van, York, L.M., Mommer, L., 2020. The fungal collaboration gradient dominates the root economics space in plants. Under discussion. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.01.17.908905
- Buée, M., Courty, P.E., Mignot, D., Garbaye, J., 2007. Soil niche effect on species diversity and catabolic activities in an ectomycorrhizal fungal community. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 39, 1947–1955. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2007.02.016
- Caudullo, G., Tinner, W., de Rigo, D., 2016. *Picea abies* in Europe: distribution, habitat, usage and threats, in: San-Miguel-Ayanz, J., de Rigo, D., Caudullo, G., Houston Durrant, T., Mauri, A. (Ed.), European Atlas of Forest Tree Species. Publ. Off. EU, Luxembourg, p. e012300+.
- Clemmensen, K.E., Bahr, A., Ovaskainen, O., Dahlberg, A., Ekblad, A., Wallander, H., Stenlid, J., Finlay, R.D., Wardle, D.A., Lindahl, B.D., 2013. Roots and Associated

Fungi Drive Long-Term Carbon Sequestration in Boreal Forest. Science 339, 1615–1618. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1229223

- Clemmensen, K.E., Finlay, R.D., Dahlberg, A., Stenlid, J., Wardle, D.A., Lindahl, B.D., 2015. Carbon sequestration is related to mycorrhizal fungal community shifts during long-term succession in boreal forests. New Phytologist 205, 1525–1536. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.13208
- Clemmensen, K.E., Michelsen, A., Jonasson, S., Shaver, G.R., 2006. Increased ectomycorrhizal fungal abundance after long-term fertilization and warming of two arctic tundra ecosystems. New Phytologist 171, 391–404. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460.8127.2006.01778.r.
 - https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2006.01778.x
- Colwell, R.K., 2013. EstimateS, Version 9.1: Statistical Estimation of Species Richness and Shared Species from Samples. Available at: http://viceroy.eeb.uconn.edu/EstimateS/.
- Comas, L.H., Eissenstat, D.M., 2004. Linking fine root traits to maximum potential growth rate among 11 mature temperate tree species. Functional Ecology 18, 388–397. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0269-8463.2004.00835.x
- Courty, P.-E., Buée, M., Diedhiou, A.G., Frey-Klett, P., Le Tacon, F., Rineau, F., Turpault, M.-P., Uroz, S., Garbaye, J., 2010. The role of ectomycorrhizal communities in forest ecosystem processes: New perspectives and emerging concepts. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 42, 679–698. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2009.12.006
- Courty, P.-E., Pritsch, K., Schloter, M., Hartmann, A., Garbaye, J., 2005. Activity profiling of ectomycorrhiza communities in two forest soils using multiple enzymatic tests. The New phytologist 167, 309–19.
 - https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2005.01401.x
- Cox, F., Barsoum, N., Lilleskov, E.A., Bidartondo, M.I., 2010. Nitrogen availability is a primary determinant of conifer mycorrhizas across complex environmental gradients. Ecology Letters 13, 1103–1113. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2010.01494.x
- Cramer, M.D., Hawkins, H.-J., Verboom, G.A., 2009. The importance of nutritional regulation of plant water flux. Oecologia 161, 15–24. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-009-1364-3
- Dai, A., 2006. Recent climatology, variability, and trends in global surface humidity. Journal of Climate 19, 3589–3606. https://doi.org/10.1175/JCLI3816.1
- De Boeck, H.J., Vicca, S., Roy, J., Nijs, I., Milcu, A., Kreyling, J., Jentsch, A., Chabbi, A., Campioli, M., Callaghan, T., Beierkuhnlein, C., Beier, C., 2015. Global Change Experiments: Challenges and Opportunities. BioScience 65, 922–931. https://doi.org/10.1093/biosci/biv099
- de la Riva, E.G., Marañón, T., Pérez-Ramos, I.M., Navarro-Fernández, C.M., Olmo, M., Villar, R., 2018. Root traits across environmental gradients in Mediterranean woody communities: are they aligned along the root economics spectrum? Plant and Soil 424, 35–48. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-017-3433-4
- Deng, Y., Jiang, Y., Yang, Y., He, Z., Luo, F., Zhou, J., 2012. Molecular ecological network analyses. BMC Bioinformatics 13, 113.
- Deslippe, J.R., Hartmann, M., Mohn, W.W., Simard, S.W., 2011. Long-term experimental manipulation of climate alters the ectomycorrhizal community of *Betula nana* in Arctic tundra. Global Change Biology 17, 1625–1636. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2010.02318.x
- Dieleman, W.I.J., Vicca, S., Dijkstra, F. a., Hagedorn, F., Hovenden, M.J., Larsen, K.S., Morgan, J. a., Volder, A., Beier, C., Dukes, J.S., King, J.S., Leuzinger, S., Linder, S., Luo, Y., Oren, R., De Angelis, P., Tingey, D., Hoosbeek, M.R., Janssens, I.A., 2012.

Simple additive effects are rare: a quantitative review of plant biomass and soil process responses to combined manipulations of CO₂ and temperature. Global Change Biology 18, 2681–2693. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2012.02745.x

- Fogel, R., Hunt, G., 1983. Contribution of mycorrhizae and soil fungi to nutrient cycling in a Douglas-fir ecosystem. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 13, 219–232.
- Folman, L.B., Postma, J., Veen, J.A., 2001. Ecophysiological characterization of rhizosphere bacterial communities at different root locations and plant developmental stages of cucumber grown on rockwool. Microbial Ecology 42, 586–597. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-001-0032-x
- Freschet, G.T., Valverde-Barrantes, O.J., Tucker, C.M., Craine, J.M., McCormack, M.L., Violle, C., Fort, F., Blackwood, C.B., Urban-Mead, K.R., Iversen, C.M., Bonis, A., Comas, L.H., Cornelissen, J.H.C., Dong, M., Guo, D., Hobbie, S.E., Holdaway, R.J., Kembel, S.W., Makita, N., Onipchenko, V.G., Picon-Cochard, C., Reich, P.B., de la Riva, E.G., Smith, S.W., Soudzilovskaia, N.A., Tjoelker, M.G., Wardle, D.A., Roumet, C., 2017. Climate, soil and plant functional types as drivers of global fineroot trait variation. Journal of Ecology 105, 1182–1196. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.12769
- Frey-Klett, P., Garbaye, J., Tarkka, M., 2007. The mycorrhiza helper bacteria revisited. New Phytologist 176, 22–36. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2007.02191.x
- Friesen, M.L., Porter, S.S., Stark, S.C., von Wettberg, E.J., Sachs, J.L., Martinez-Romero, E., 2011. Microbially Mediated Plant Functional Traits. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 42, 23–46. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-102710-145039
- Gill, R.A., Jackson, R.B., 2000. Global patterns of root turnover for terrestrial ecosystems. New Phytologist 147, 13–31.
- Gobiet, A., Kotlarski, S., Beniston, M., Heinrich, G., Rajczak, J., Stoffel, M., 2014. 21st century climate change in the European Alps-A review. Science of the Total Environment 493, 1138–1151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.07.050
- Godbold, D.L., Hoosbeek, M.R., Lukac, M., Cotrufo, M.F., Janssens, I. a., Ceulemans, R., Polle, A., Velthorst, E.J., Scarascia-Mugnozza, G., Angelis, P., Miglietta, F., Peressotti, A., 2006. Mycorrhizal Hyphal Turnover as a Dominant Process for Carbon Input into Soil Organic Matter. Plant and Soil 281, 15–24. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-005-3701-6
- Gorissen, A., Kuyper, T.W., 2000. Fungal species-specific responses of ectomycorrhizal Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) to elevated [CO₂]. New Phytologist 146, 163–168.
- Guo, D.L., Mitchell, R.J., Hendricks, J.J., 2004. Fine root branch orders respond differentially to carbon source-sink manipulations in a longleaf pine forest. Oecologia 140, 450–457. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-004-1596-1
- Guo, D.L., Mitchell, R.J., Withington, J.M., Fan, P.P., Hendricks, J.J., 2008. Endogenous and exogenous controls of root life span, mortality and nitrogen flux in a longleaf pine forest: Root branch order predominates. Journal of Ecology 96, 737–745. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2745.2008.01385.x
- Hajek, P., Hertel, D., Leuschner, C., 2014. Root order- and root age-dependent response of two poplar species to belowground competition. Plant and Soil 377, 337–355. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-013-2007-3
- Hansen, R., Mander, Ü., Soosaar, K., Maddison, M., Lõhmus, K., Kupper, P., Kanal, A., Sõber, J., 2013. Greenhouse gas fluxes in an open air humidity manipulation experiment. Landscape Ecology 28, 637–649. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-012-9775-7

- Heinonsalo, J., Pumpanen, J., Rasilo, T., Hurme, K.-R., Ilvesniemi, H., 2010. Carbon partitioning in ectomycorrhizal Scots pine seedlings. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 42, 1614–1623. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2010.06.003
- Helmisaari, H.-S., Derome, J., Nojd, P., Kukkola, M., 2007. Fine root biomass in relation to site and stand characteristics in Norway spruce and Scots pine stands. Tree Physiology 27, 1493–1504. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/27.10.1493
- Hobbie, E.A., Agerer, R., 2010. Nitrogen isotopes in ectomycorrhizal sporocarps correspond to belowground exploration types. Plant and Soil 327, 71–83. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-009-0032-z
- Holdaway, R.J., Richardson, S.J., Dickie, I.A., Peltzer, D.A., Coomes, D.A., 2011. Species- and community-level patterns in fine root traits along a 120000-year soil chronosequence in temperate rain forest. Journal of Ecology 99, 954–963. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2745.2011.01821.x
- Houle, D., Bouffard, A., Duchesne, L., Logan, T., Harvey, R., 2012. Projections of future soil temperature and water content for three Southern Quebec forested sites. Journal of Climate 25, 7690–7701. https://doi.org/10.1175/JCLI-D-11-00440.1
- Houston Durrant, T., Mauri, A., de Rigo, D., Caudullo, G., 2016. *Picea sitchensis* in Europe: distribution, habitat, usage and threats, in: San-Miguel-Ayanz, J., de Rigo, D., Caudullo, G., Houston Durrant, T., Mauri, A. (Ed.), European Atlas of Forest Tree Species. Publ. Off. EU, Luxembourg, p. e0137a1+.
- Hynynen, J., Niemistö, P., Viherä-Aarnio, A., Brunner, A., Hein, S., Velling, P., 2010. Silviculture of birch (*Betula pendula* Roth and *Betula pubescens* Ehrh.) in Northern Europe. Forestry 83, 103–119. https://doi.org/10.1093/forestry/cpp035
- IPCC, 2013. Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change., in: Stocker, T.F., Qin, D., Plattner, G.-K., Tignor, M., Allen, S.K., Boschung, J., Nauels, A., Xia, Y., Bex, V., Midgley, P.M. (Eds.), . Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- Jaagus, J., Briede, A., Rimkus, E., Sepp, M., 2018. Changes in precipitation regime in the Baltic countries in 1966–2015. Theoretical and Applied Climatology 131, 433–443. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00704-016-1990-8
- Jaagus, J., Mändla, K., 2014. Climate change scenarios for Estonia based on climate models from the IPCC Fourth Assessment Report. Estonian Journal of Earth Sciences 63, 166–180. https://doi.org/10.3176/earth.2014.15
- Jackson, R.B., Mooney, H.A., Schulze, E.-D., 1997. A global budget for fine root biomass, surface area, and nutrient contents. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 94, 7362–7366.
- Jandl, R., Schindlbacher, A., 2014. Carbon Sequestration in Central European Forest Ecosystems, in: CO₂ Sequestration and Valorization. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.5772/57264
- Johnson, M.G., Rygiewicz, P.T., Tingey, D.T., Phillips, D.L., 2006. Elevated CO₂ and elevated temperature have no effect on Douglas-fir fine-root dynamics in nitrogenpoor soil. New Phytologist 170, 345–356.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2006.01658.x

- Jungqvist, G., Oni, S.K., Teutschbein, C., Futter, M.N., 2014. Effect of climate change on soil temperature in Swedish boreal forests. PLoS ONE 9, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0093957
- Kieloaho, A.J., Pihlatie, M., Dominguez Carrasco, M., Kanerva, S., Parshintsev, J., Riekkola, M.L., Pumpanen, J., Heinonsalo, J., 2016. Stimulation of soil organic

nitrogen pool: The effect of plant and soil organic matter degrading enzymes. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 96, 97–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2016.01.013

- Kjellström, E., Nikulin, G., Strandberg, G., Bøssing Christensen, O., Jacob, D., Keuler, K., Lenderink, G., Van Meijgaard, E., Schär, C., Somot, S., Lund Sørland, S., Teichmann, C., Vautard, R., 2018. European climate change at global mean temperature increases of 1.5 and 2 °C above pre-industrial conditions as simulated by the EURO-CORDEX regional climate models. Earth System Dynamics 9, 459–478. https://doi.org/10.5194/esd-9-459-2018
- Kong, D., Ma, C., Zhang, Q., Li, L., Chen, X., Zeng, H., Guo, D.L., 2014. Leading dimensions in absorptive root trait variation across 96 subtropical forest species. New Phytologist 203, 863–872. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.12842
- Kraigher, H., Al Sayegh Petkovšek, S., Grebenc, T., Simončič, P., 2007. Types of ectomycorrhiza as pollution stress indicators: Case studies in Slovenia. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 128, 31–45. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-006-9413-4
- Kramer-Walter, K.R., Bellingham, P.J., Millar, T.R., Smissen, R.D., Richardson, S.J., Laughlin, D.C., 2016. Root traits are multidimensional: specific root length is independent from root tissue density and the plant economic spectrum. Journal of Ecology 104, 1299–1310. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.12562
- Kranabetter, J.M., Hawkins, B.J., Jones, M.D., Robbins, S., Dyer, T., Li, T., 2015. Species turnover (beta-diversity) in ectomycorrhizal fungi linked to NH₄⁺ uptake capacity. Molecular Ecology 24, 5992–6005. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.13435
- Kreuzwieser, J., Hauberg, J., Howell, K.A., Carroll, A., Rennenberg, H., Millar, A.H., Whelan, J., 2009. Differential response of gray poplar leaves and roots underpins stress adaptation during hypoxia. Plant Physiology 149, 461–473. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.108.125989
- Kreyling, J., Jentsch, A., Beier, C., 2014. Beyond realism in climate change experiments: Gradient approaches identify thresholds and tipping points. Ecology Letters 17, 10– 11. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12193
- Kukumägi, M., Ostonen, I., Kupper, P., Truu, M., Tulva, I., Varik, M., Aosaar, J., Sõber, J., Lõhmus, K., 2014. The effects of elevated atmospheric humidity on soil respiration components in a young silver birch forest. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 194, 167–174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2014.04.003
- Kupper, P., Söber, J., Sellin, A., Lõhmus, K., Tullus, A., Räim, O., Lubenets, K., Tulva, I., Uri, V., Zobel, M., Kull, O., Sõber, A., 2011. An experimental facility for free air humidity manipulation (FAHM) can alter water flux through deciduous tree canopy. Environmental and Experimental Botany 72, 432–438. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2010.09.003
- Lahti, M., Aphalo, P.J., Finér, L., Ryyppö, A., Lehto, T., Mannerkoski, H., 2005. Effects of soil temperature on shoot and root growth and nutrient uptake of 5-year-old Norway spruce seedlings. Tree Physiology 25, 115–122. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/25.1.115
- Last, F.T., Mason, P.A., Wilson, J., Estate, B., Deacon, J.W., Road, W.M., 1983. Fine roots and sheathing mycorrhizas: their formation, function and dynamics. Plant and Soil 71, 9–21.
- Leblans, N.I.W., 2016. Natural gradients in temperature and nitrogen: Iceland represents a unique environment to clarify long-term global change effects on carbon dynamics. Joint doctoral thesis at Antwerp University and Agricultural University of Iceland.

- Leblans, N.I.W., Sigurdsson, B.D., Vicca, S., Fu, Y., Penuelas, J., Janssens, I.A., 2017. Phenological responses of Icelandic subarctic grasslands to short-term and long-term natural soil warming. Global Change Biology 23, 4932–4945. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13749
- Leppälammi-Kujansuu, J., 2014. Norway spruce fine root dynamics and carbon input into soil in relation to environmental factors. Dissertationes Forestales 183.
- Leppälammi-Kujansuu, J., Aro, L., Salemaa, M., Hansson, K., Kleja, D.B., Helmisaari, H.S., 2014a. Fine root longevity and carbon input into soil from below- and aboveground litter in climatically contrasting forests. Forest Ecology and Management 326, 79–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2014.03.039
- Leppälammi-Kujansuu, J., Salemaa, M., Kleja, D.B., Linder, S., Helmisaari, H.S., 2014b. Fine root turnover and litter production of Norway spruce in a long-term temperature and nutrient manipulation experiment. Plant and Soil 374, 73–88. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-013-1853-3
- Leuschner, C., Hertel, D., 2003. Fine Root Biomass of Temperate Forests in Relation to Soil Acidity and Fertility, Climate, Age and Species. Progress in Botany 64, 405–438.
- Leuzinger, S., Fatichi, S., Cusens, J., Körner, C., Niklaus, P.A., 2015. The 'island effect' in terrestrial global change experiments: a problem with no solution? AoB Plants 7, plv092. https://doi.org/10.1093/aobpla/plv092
- Leuzinger, S., Luo, Y., Beier, C., Dieleman, W., Vicca, S., Ko, C., 2011. Do global change experiments overestimate impacts on terrestrial ecosystems? Trends in Ecology and Evolution 26, 236–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2011.02.011
- Liese, R., Alings, K., Meier, I.C., 2017. Root branching is a leading root trait of the plant economics spectrum in temperate trees. Frontiers in Plant Science 8, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.00315
- Lilleskov, E.A., Bruns, T.D., Dawson, T.E., Camacho, F.J., 2009. Water sources and controls on water-loss rates of epigeous ectomycorrhizal fungal sporocarps during summer drought. New Phytologist 182, 483–494. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2009.02775.x
- Lilleskov, E.A., Hobbie, E.A., Fahey, T.J., 2002. Ectomycorrhizal fungal taxa differing in response to nitrogen deposition also differ in pure culture organic nitrogen use and natural abundance of nitrogen isotopes. New Phytologist 154, 219–231. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1469-8137.2002.00367.x
- Lilleskov, E.A., Hobbie, E.A., Horton, T.R., 2011. Conservation of ectomycorrhizal fungi: exploring the linkages between functional and taxonomic responses to anthropogenic N deposition. Fungal Ecology 4, 174–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funeco.2010.09.008
- Lindner, M., Fitzgerald, J.B., Zimmermann, N.E., Reyer, C., Delzon, S., Maaten, E. Van Der, Schelhaas, M., Lasch, P., Eggers, J., Maaten-theunissen, M. Van Der, 2014. Climate change and European forests : What do we know, what are the uncertainties, and what are the implications for forest management? Journal of Environmental Management 146, 69–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2014.07.030
- Litton, C.M., Giardina, C.P., 2008. Below-ground carbon flux and partitioning: Global patterns and response to temperature. Functional Ecology 22, 941–954. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2008.01479.x
- Liu, B., Rennenberg, H., Kreuzwieser, J., 2015. Hypoxia affects nitrogen uptake and distribution in young poplar (*populus* × *canescens*) trees. PLoS ONE 10, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0136579

- Liu, D., Keiblinger, K.M., Schindlbacher, A., Wegner, U., Sun, H., Fuchs, S., Lassek, C., Riedel, K., Zechmeister-Boltenstern, S., 2017. Microbial functionality as affected by experimental warming of a temperate mountain forest soil – A metaproteomics survey. Applied Soil Ecology 117–118, 196–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2017.04.021
- Lõhmus, K., Rosenvald, K., Östonen, I., Kukumägi, M., Uri, V., Tullus, A., Aosaar, J., Varik, M., Kupper, P., Torga, R., Maddison, M., Soosaar, K., Sõber, J., Mander, Ü., Kaasik, A., Sõber, A., 2019. Elevated atmospheric humidity shapes the carbon cycle of a silver birch forest ecosystem: A FAHM study. Science of the Total Environment 661, 441–448. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.01.160
- Lõhmus, K., Truu, J., Truu, M., Kaar, E., Ostonen, I., Alama, S., 2006. Black alder as a promising deciduous species for the reclaiming of oil shale mining areas, in: Transactions on Ecology and the Environment. pp. 87–97. https://doi.org/10.2495/BF060091
- Lyr, H., Hoffmann, G., 1967. Growth rates and growth periodicity of tree roots, in: Romberger, J.A., Mikola, P. (Eds.), International Review of Forest Research. Academic Press, New York, pp. 181–236.
- Majdi, H., Öhrvik, J., 2004. Interactive effects of soil warming and fertilization on root production, mortality, and longevity in a Norway spruce stand in Northern Sweden. Global Change Biology 10, 182–188. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1529-8817.2003.00733.x
- Makita, N., Hirano, Y., Yamanaka, T., Yoshimura, K., Kosugi, Y., 2012. Ectomycorrhizal-fungal colonization induces physio-morphological changes in *Quercus serrata* leaves and roots. Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science 175, 900–906. https://doi.org/10.1002/jpln.201100417
- Marupakula, S., Mahmood, S., Finlay, R.D., 2016. Analysis of single root tip microbiomes suggests that distinctive bacterial communities are selected by *Pinus sylvestris* roots colonized by different ectomycorrhizal fungi. Environmental Microbiology 18, 1470–1483. https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.13102
- McCormack, M.L., Adams, T.S., Smithwick, E.A.H., Eissenstat, D.M., 2012. Predicting fine root lifespan from plant functional traits in temperate trees. New Phytologist 195, 823–831. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2012.04198.x
- McCormack, M.L., Dickie, I.A., Eissenstat, D.M., Fahey, T.J., Fernandez, C.W., Guo, D., Helmisaari, H.S., Hobbie, E.A., Iversen, C.M., Jackson, R.B., Leppälammi-Kujansuu, J., Norby, R.J., Phillips, R.P., Pregitzer, K.S., Pritchard, S.G., Rewald, B., Zadworny, M., 2015. Redefining fine roots improves understanding of below-ground contributions to terrestrial biosphere processes. New Phytologist 207, 505–518. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.13363
- McCormack, M.L., Guo, D.L., 2014. Impacts of environmental factors on fine root lifespan. Frontiers in Plant Science 5, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2014.00205
- Meier, I.C., Leuschner, C., 2010. Variation of soil and biomass carbon pools in beech forests across a precipitation gradient. Global Change Biology 16, 1035–1045. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02074.x
- Morgado, L.N., Semenova, T.A., Welker, J.M., Walker, M.D., Smets, E., Geml, J., 2015. Summer temperature increase has distinct effects on the ectomycorrhizal fungal communities of moist tussock and dry tundra in Arctic Alaska. Global Change Biology 21, 959–972. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12716

- Nishar, A., Bader, M.K., Gorman, E.J.O., Deng, J., Breen, B., Leuzinger, S., 2017. Temperature Effects on Biomass and Regeneration of Vegetation in a Geothermal Area. Frontiers in Plant Science 8, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.00249
- O'Gorman, E.J., Benstead, J.P., Cross, W.F., Friberg, N., Hood, J.M., Johnson, P.W., Sigurdsson, B.D., Woodward, G., 2014. Climate change and geothermal ecosystems: Natural laboratories, sentinel systems, and future refugia. Global Change Biology 20, 3291–3299. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12602
- Oni, S.K., Mieres, F., Futter, M.N., Laudon, H., 2017. Soil temperature responses to climate change along a gradient of upland–riparian transect in boreal forest. Climatic Change 143, 27–41. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-017-1977-1
- Ostonen, I., Helmisaari, H.-S., Borken, W., Tedersoo, L., Kukumägi, M., Bahram, M., Lindroos, A.-J., Nöjd, P., Uri, V., Merilä, P., Asi, E., Lõhmus, K., 2011. Fine root foraging strategies in Norway spruce forests across a European climate gradient. Global Change Biology 17, 3620–3632. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02501.x
- Ostonen, I., Lõhmus, K., Lasn, R., 1999. The role of soil conditions in fine root ecomorphology in Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst.). Plant and Soil 208, 283–292.
- Ostonen, I., Püttsepp, Ü., Biel, C., Alberton, O., Bakker, M.R., Lõhmus, K., Majdi, H., Metcalfe, D., Olsthoorn, A.F.M., Pronk, A., Vanguelova, E., Weih, M., Brunner, I., 2007. Specific root length as an indicator of environmental change. Plant Biosystems – An International Journal Dealing with all Aspects of Plant Biology 141, 426–442.
- Ostonen, I., Tedersoo, L., Suvi, T., Lõhmus, K., 2009. Does a fungal species drive ectomycorrhizal root traits in *Alnus* spp.? Canadian Journal of Forest Research 39, 1787–1796. https://doi.org/10.1139/X09-093
- Pendall, E., Bridgham, S., Hanson, P.J., Hungate, B., Kicklighter, D.W., Johnson, D.W., Law, B.E., Luo, Y., Megonigal, J.P., Olsrud, M., Ryan, M.G., Wan, S., 2004. Belowground process responses to elevated CO₂ and temperature: a discussion of observations, measurement methods, and models. New Phytologist 162, 311–322. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2004.01053.x
- Penuelas, J., Fernández-Martínez, M., Vallicrosa, H., Maspons, J., Zuccarini, P., Carnicer, J., Sanders, T.G.M., Krüger, I., Obersteiner, M., Janssens, I.A., Ciais, P., Sardans, J., 2020. Increasing atmospheric CO₂ concentrations correlate with declining nutritional status of European forests. Communications Biology 3, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-020-0839-y
- Pumpanen, J., Heinonsalo, J., Rasilo, T., Villemot, J., Ilvesniemi, H., 2012. The effects of soil and air temperature on CO₂ exchange and net biomass accumulation in Norway spruce, Scots pine and silver birch seedlings. Tree Physiology 32, 724–736. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tps007
- R Core Team, 2013. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL http://www.R-project.org/.
- Reich, P.B., Luo, Y., Bradford, J.B., Poorter, H., Perry, C.H., Oleksyn, J., 2014. Temperature drives global patterns in forest biomass distribution in leaves, stems, and roots. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 111, 13721–13726. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1216053111

- Richardson, A.E., Barea, J.-M., McNeill, A.M., Prigent-Combaret, C., 2009. Acquisition of phosphorus and nitrogen in the rhizosphere and plant growth promotion by microorganisms. Plant and Soil 321, 305–339. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-009-9895-2
- Rineau, F., Courty, P.E., 2011. Secreted enzymatic activities of ectomycorrhizal fungi as a case study of functional diversity and functional redundancy. Annals of Forest Science 68, 69–80. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13595-010-0008-4
- Romero-Olivares, A.L., Allison, S.D., Treseder, K.K., 2017. Soil microbes and their response to experimental warming over time: A meta-analysis of field studies. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 107, 32–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2016.12.026
- Rosenstock, N., Ellström, M., Oddsdottir, E., Sigurdsson, B.D., Wallander, H., 2019. Carbon sequestration and community composition of ectomycorrhizal fungi across a geothermal warming gradient in an Icelandic spruce forest. Fungal Ecology 40, 32– 42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funeco.2018.05.010
- Rosenvald, K., 2011. Factors affecting ectomycorrhizal roots and rhizosphere in silver birch stands. Doctoral thesis, Tartu University. Tartu University.
- Rosenvald, K., Kuznetsova, T., Ostonen, I., Truu, M., Truu, J., Uri, V., Lõhmus, K., 2011a. Rhizosphere effect and fine-root morphological adaptations in a chronosequence of silver birch stands on reclaimed oil shale post-mining areas. Ecological Engineering 37, 1027–1034. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2010.05.011
- Rosenvald, K., Ostonen, I., Truu, M., Truu, J., Uri, V., Vares, A., Lõhmus, K., 2011b. Fine-root rhizosphere and morphological adaptations to site conditions in interaction with tree mineral nutrition in young silver birch (*Betula pendula* Roth .) stands. European Journal of Forest Research 130, 1055–1066. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10342-011-0492-6
- Rosenvald, K., Tullus, A., Ostonen, I., Uri, V., Kupper, P., Aosaar, J., Varik, M., Sõber, J., Niglas, A., Hansen, R., Rohula, G., Kukk, M., Sõber, A., Lõhmus, K., 2014. The effect of elevated air humidity on young silver birch and hybrid aspen biomass allocation and accumulation – Acclimation mechanisms and capacity. Forest Ecology and Management 330, 252–260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2014.07.016
- Rutten, G., Gómez-Aparicio, L., 2018. Plant-soil feedbacks and root responses of two Mediterranean oaks along a precipitation gradient. Plant and Soil 424, 221–231. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-018-3567-z
- Ryan, M.G., 2013. Three decades of research at Flakaliden advancing whole-tree physiology, forest ecosystem and global change research. Tree Physiology 33, 1123–1131. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tpt100
- Salmela, M.J., Velmala, S.M., Pennanen, T., 2020. Seedling traits from root to shoot exhibit genetic diversity and distinct responses to environmental heterogeneity within a tree population. Oikos 129, 544–558. https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.06797
- Schindlbacher, A., Schnecker, J., Takriti, M., Borken, W., Wanek, W., 2015. Microbial physiology and soil CO₂ efflux after 9 years of soil warming in a temperate forest – no indications for thermal adaptations. Global Change Biology 21, 4265–4277. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12996
- Schindlbacher, A., Zechmeister-Boltenstern, S., Jandl, R., 2009. Carbon losses due to soil warming: Do autotrophic and heterotrophic soil respiration respond equally? Global Change Biology 15, 901–913. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2008.01757.x
- Schnecker, J., Borken, W., Schindlbacher, A., Wanek, W., 2016. Little effects on soil organic matter chemistry of density fractions after seven years of forest soil warming. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 103, 300–307. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2016.09.003

47

- Sellin, A., Alber, M., Keinänen, M., Kupper, P., Lihavainen, J., Lõhmus, K., Oksanen, E., Sõber, A., Sõber, J., Tullus, A., 2017. Growth of northern deciduous trees under increasing atmospheric humidity: possible mechanisms behind the growth retardation. Regional Environmental Change 17, 2135–2148. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-016-1042-z
- Senior, J.K., Iason, G.R., Gundale, M., Whitham, T.G., Axelsson, E.P., 2019. Genetic increases in growth do not lead to trade-offs with ecologically important litter and fine root traits in Norway spruce. Forest Ecology and Management 446, 54–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2019.05.021
- Sidor, C.G., Popa, I., Vlad, R., Cherubini, P., 2015. Different tree-ring responses of Norway spruce to air temperature across an altitudinal gradient in the Eastern Carpathians (Romania). Trees – Structure and Function 29, 985–997. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00468-015-1178-3
- Sigurdsson, B.D., Leblans, N.I.W., Dauwe, S., Guðmundsdóttir, E., Gundersen, P., Gunnarsdóttir, G.E., Holmstrup, M., Ilieva-Makulec, K., Kätterer, T., Marteinsdóttir, B., Maljanen, M., Oddsdóttir, E.S., Ostonen, I., Peñuelas, J., Poeplau, C., Richter, A., Sigurðsson, P., Van Bodegom, P., Wallander, H., Weedon, J., Janssens, I., 2016. Geothermal ecosystems as natural climate change experiments: the ForHot research site in Iceland as a case study. Icelandic Agricultural Sciences 29, 53–71. https://doi.org/10.16886/IAS.2016.05
- Solly, E.F., Lindahl, B.D., Dawes, M.A., Peter, M., Souza, R.C., Rixen, C., Hagedorn, F., 2017. Experimental soil warming shifts the fungal community composition at the alpine treeline. New Phytologist 215, 766–778. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.14603
- Song, Y., Li, Y., Zhang, W., Wang, F., Bian, Y., Boughner, L.A., Jiang, X., 2016. Novel Biochar-Plant Tandem Approach for Remediating Hexachlorobenzene Contaminated Soils: Proof-of-Concept and New Insight into the Rhizosphere. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 64, 5464–5471. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.6b01035
- StatSoft, I., 2005. STATISTICA (data analysis software system), version 7.1. www.statsoft.com.
- Stenström, E., 1991. The effects of flooding on the formation of ectomycorrhizae in *Pinus sylvestris* seedlings. Plant and Soil 131, 247–250.
- Strömgren, M., Linder, S., 2002. Effects of nutrition and soil warming on stemwood production in a boreal Norway spruce stand. Global Change Biology 8, 1195–1204.
- Taylor, L.L., Leake, J.R., Quirk, J., Hardy, K., Banwart, S.A., Beerling, D.J., 2009. Biological weathering and the long-term carbon cycle: integrating mycorrhizal evolution and function into the current paradigm. Geobiology 7, 171–91. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4669.2009.00194.x
- Tedersoo, L., Kõljalg, U., Hallenberg, N., Larsson, K., 2003. Fine scale distribution of ectomycorrhizal fungi and roots across substrate layers including coarse woody debris in a mixed forest. New Phytologist 159, 153–165. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.0028-646x.2003.00792.x
- Tedersoo, L., Naadel, T., Bahram, M., Pritsch, K., Buegger, F., Leal, M., Kõljalg, U., Põldmaa, K., 2012. Enzymatic activities and stable isotope patterns of ectomycorrhizal fungi in relation to phylogeny and exploration types in an afrotropical rain forest. New Phytologist 195, 832–43. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460.8137.2012.04217.r.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2012.04217.x

ter Braak, C.J.F., Šmilauer, P., 2002. CANOCO Reference Manual and CanoDraw for Windows User's Guide: Software for Canonical Community Ordination (version 4.5). Microcomputer Power, Ithaca, NY, USA. Available at: http://www.pri.wur.nl/uk/ products/canoco/.

- Treseder, K.K., Marusenko, Y., Romero-Olivares, A.L., Maltz, M.R., 2016. Experimental warming alters potential function of the fungal community in boreal forest. Global Change Biology 22, 3395–3404. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13238
- Truu, M., Ostonen, I., Preem, J.-K., Lõhmus, K., Nõlvak, H., Ligi, T., Rosenvald, K., Parts, K., Kupper, P., Truu, J., 2017. Elevated Air Humidity Changes Soil Bacterial Community Structure in the Silver Birch Stand. Frontiers in Microbiology 8, 557. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.00557
- Unestam, T., Sun, Y.-P., 1995. Extramatrical structures of hydrophobic and hydrophilic ectomycorrhizal fungi. Mycorrhiza 5, 301–311. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00207402
- Valverde-barrantes, O.J., Freschet, T., Roumet, C., Blackwood, C.B., 2017. A worldview of root traits: the influence of ancestry, growth form, climate and mycorrhizal association on the functional trait variation of fine-root tissues in seed plants. New Phytologist. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.14571
- Valverde-Barrantes, O.J., Smemo, K.A., Feinstein, L.M., Kershner, M.W., Blackwood, C.B., 2015. Aggregated and complementary: Symmetric proliferation, overyielding, and mass effects explain fine-root biomass in soil patches in a diverse temperate deciduous forest landscape. New Phytologist 205, 731–742. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.13179
- van der Heijden, E.W., Kuyper, T.W., 2003. Ecological strategies of ectomycorrhizal fungi of *Salix repens*: root manipulation versus root replacement. Oikos 103, 668–680. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0706.2003.10638.x
- Velmala, S.M., Rajala, T., Haapanen, M., Taylor, A.F.S., Pennanen, T., 2013. Genetic host-tree effects on the ectomycorrhizal community and root characteristics of Norway spruce. Mycorrhiza 23, 21–33. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00572-012-0446-y
- Velmala, S.M., Rajala, T., Heinonsalo, J., Taylor, A.F.S., Pennanen, T., 2014. Profiling functions of ectomycorrhizal diversity and root structuring in seedlings of Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) with fast- and slow-growing phenotypes. New Phytologist 201, 610–622. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.12542
- Wahl, S., Ryser, P., 2000. Root tissue structure is linked to ecological strategies of grasses. New Phytologist 459–471.
- Walker, T.W.N., Janssens, I.A., Weedon, J.T., Sigurdsson, B.D., Richter, A., Peñuelas, J., Leblans, N.I.W., Bahn, M., Bartrons, M., Jonge, C. De, Fuchslueger, L., Gargallogarriga, A., Gunnarsdóttir, G.E., Marañón-jiménez, S., Oddsdóttir, E.S., Ostonen, I., Poeplau, C., Prommer, J., Radujković, D., Sardans, J., Sigurðsson, P., Soong, J.L., Vicca, S., Wallander, H., Ilieva-makulec, K., Verbruggen, E., 2020. A systemic overreaction to years versus decades of warming in a subarctic grassland ecosystem. Nature Ecology & Evolution 4. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-019-1055-3
- Walker, T.W.N., Kaiser, C., Strasser, F., Herbold, C.W., Leblans, N.I.W., Woebken, D., Janssens, I.A., Sigurdsson, B.D., Richter, A., 2018. Microbial temperature sensitivity and biomass change explain soil carbon loss with warming. Nature Climate Change 8, 885–889. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-018-0259-x
- Wallander, H., Göransson, H., Rosengren, U., 2004. Production, standing biomass and natural abundance of ¹⁵N and ¹³C in ectomycorrhizal mycelia collected at different soil depths in two forest types. Oecologia 139, 89–97. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-003-1477-z
- Wan, S., Norby, R.J., Pregitzer, K.S., Ledford, J., O'Neill, E.G., 2004. CO₂ enrichment and warming of the atmosphere enhance both productivity and mortality of maple tree fine roots. New Phytologist 162, 437–446. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460.8127.2004.01024.x

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2004.01034.x

- Weemstra, M., Mommer, L., Visser, E.J.W., van Ruijven, J., Kuyper, T.W., Mohren, G.M.J., Sterck, F.J., 2016. Towards a multidimensional root trait framework: a tree root review. New Phytologist 211, 1159–1169. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.14003
- Weigt, R.B., Raidl, S., Verma, R., Agerer, R., 2012. Exploration type-specific standard values of extramatrical mycelium – a step towards quantifying ectomycorrhizal space occupation and biomass in natural soil. Mycological Progress 11, 287–297. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11557-011-0750-5
- Weigt, R.B., Raidl, S., Verma, R., Rodenkirchen, H., Göttlein, A., Agerer, R., 2011. Effects of twice-ambient carbon dioxide and nitrogen amendment on biomass, nutrient contents and carbon costs of Norway spruce seedlings as influenced by mycorrhization with *Piloderma croceum* and *Tomentellopsis submollis*. Mycorrhiza 21, 375–391. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00572-010-0343-1
- Wells, C.E., Eissenstat, D.M., 2001. Marked Differences in Survivorship Among Apple Roots of Different Diameters. Ecology 82, 882–892.
- Wiklund, K., Nilsson, L.-O., Jacobsson, S., 1995. Effect of irrigation, fertilization, and artificial drought on basidioma production in a Norway spruce stand. Canadian Journal of Botany 73, 200–208.
- Willett, K.M., Jones, P.D., Thorne, P.W., Gillett, N.P., 2010. A comparison of large scale changes in surface humidity over land in observations and CMIP3 general circulation models. Environmental Research Letters 5. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/5/2/025210
- Wu, Z., Dijkstra, P., Koch, G.W., Peñuelas, J., Hungate, B.A., 2011. Responses of terrestrial ecosystems to temperature and precipitation change: A meta-analysis of experimental manipulation. Global Change Biology 17, 927–942. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2010.02302.x
- Xu, Z., Yin, H., Xiong, P., Wan, C., Liu, Q., 2012. Short-term responses of *Picea asperata* seedlings of different ages grown in two contrasting forest ecosystems to experimental warming. Environmental and Experimental Botany 77, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2011.10.011
- Zadworny, M., McCormack, M.L., Mucha, J., Reich, P.B., Oleksyn, J., 2016. Scots pine fine roots adjust along a 2000-km latitudinal climatic gradient. New Phytologist 212, 389–399. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.14048
- Þorbjörnsson, D., Sæmundsson, K., Kristinsson, S., Kristjánsson, B., Ágústsson, K., 2009. Suðurlandsskjálftar 29. maí 2008. Áhrif á grunnvatnsborð, hveravirkni og sprungumyndun [The South Iceland earthquake on 29th of May 2008. Impacts on groundwater levels, activity of geothermal hot-spots and creation of seismic cracks]. Rep. No. ÍSOR-2009/0. Unnið fyrir Orkuveitu Reykjavíkur, Iceland Geosurvey, Reykjavik, Iceland.

SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN

Kliimamuutuste mõju kase ja kuuse peenjuurtele ning nendega seotud mikroobikooslustele

Käesoleva sajandi lõpuks ennustatakse Põhja-Euroopa jaoks 2–4-kraadist õhutemperatuuri tõusu ning 5–40% suuremat sademete hulka (IPCC, 2013; Jaagus ja Mändla, 2014; Jungqvist jt, 2014; Kjellström jt, 2018; Lindner jt, 2014). Sellest tulenevalt on oodata keskmiselt 1,3–2,5-kraadist mullatemperatuuri tõusu (suvel maksimaalselt 4–5 kraadi) (Houle jt, 2012; Jungqvist jt, 2014; Oni jt, 2017) ja ka mullaniiskuse suurenemist, mis mõjutab oluliselt kõiki mullaprotsesse. Mulla aineringed ning ümbritseva metsaökosüsteemi elujõulisus sõltuvad suuresti muutustest puude peenjuurestikes ning juuri koloniseerivates seenekooslustes, millest võib pärineda kuni 70% mullasüsinikust (Clemmensen jt, 2013). Seetõttu on oluline mõista, kuidas puude juured ning nende risosfääris elavate seente, bakterite ja teiste organismirühmade kooslused mulla soojenemise ja niiskuse tõusuga kohanevad, mis omakorda võimaldab hinnata erinevate liikide vastupidavust kliimamuutuste suhtes ning suurendada metsade süsiniku- ja toitainete voogude määramistäpsust.

Peenjuured (läbimõõduga kuni 2 mm) jagunevad funktsionaalselt puitunud juhtejuurteks ja esmase ehitusega imijuurteks. Boreaalsetes ja parasvöötmemetsades koloniseerivad imijuuri valdavalt (90-100%) ektomükoriisaseened (Kraigher it, 2007; Taylor it, 2009), mis on omakorda tihedalt seotud risosfääribakteritega. Peen- ja imijuurte iseloomustamiseks kasutatakse juureparameetreid, nagu eripind, eripikkus, juurte kudede tihedus, diameeter, harunemine ja juurte biomass basaalpinna kohta, mis mõjutavad ja kirjeldavad toitainete omastamist, andes ühtlasi teavet juuredemograafia, mullaviljakuse ja taimede stressiseisundi kohta. Näiteks iseloomustavad eripind ja eripikkus (ehk imijuure pindala ja pikkus massiühiku kohta) juurte biomassi jaotust imava juurepinna moodustamisel. Seega peegeldavad eripinna ja -pikkuse suured väärtused intensiivset toitainete omastamist väiksema juuremassi kohta ja kiiret kasvu. Taimed võivad juurte eripinda ja -pikkust suurendada nii toitainete vähesuse korral kui ka vastupidi, viljakates tingimustes, kus kiire toitainete omastamine on tugeva konkurentsi tõttu hädavajalik (Comas ja Eissenstat, 2004; de la Riva jt, 2018; Lõhmus jt, 2006; Ostonen jt, 2007; Weemstra jt, 2016). Suurt juurte eripinda ja eripikkust põhjustavad kas madal juurte kudede tihedus või väike juurediameeter. Mõlemat näitajat on seostatud juurte elueaga, kuid kuna neid mõjutavad tegurid, nagu mulla struktuur ja viljakus, mükoriisne kolonisatsioon ja fülogeneetiline taust, erineval määral, siis muutuvad nad enamasti üksteisest sõltumatult. Lisaks eelnevatele tunnustele, peetakse ebaühtlaselt paiknevate toitainete omastamisel oluliseks juureparameetriks ka harunemist, mis sõltub suuresti juuri koloniseerivast seeneliigist (Kong jt, 2014; Liese jt, 2017). Morfoloogiliste muutustega paralleelselt reageerivad taimed varieeruvale toitainete kättesaadavusele muutustega peen- ja imijuurte biomassis, mis üldiselt ressursipuuduse korral suurenevad (Helmisaari jt, 2007; Lõhmus jt, 2006; Ostonen jt, 2011). Juurte kasv ja morfoloogia sõltuvad märkimisväärselt ka neid koloniseerivatest seeneliikidest, mis võivad üksteisest oluliselt erineda nii ensümaatilise aktiivsuse, toitainete omastamise ja jaotamise, kui taimepoolsete ülalpidamiskulude poolest (Gorissen ja Kuyper, 2000; Lilleskov jt, 2002; Tedersoo jt, 2012; van der Heijden ja Kuyper, 2003; Velmala jt, 2014).

Kliimamuutuste mõjude uurimiseks on mitmeid võimalusi: manipulatsioonikatsed, looduslikud väikeseskaalalised keskkonnagradiendid ja suureskaalalised laiuskraadigradiendid. Manipulatsioonikatsetes on võimalik uurida huvipakkuvaid ökosüsteeme, liike ja genotüüpe ning eristada põhjuslikke seoseid, hoides kaasneva ebasoovitava geneetilise ja keskkonnavarieeruvuse võimalikult madala. Samas on selliste katsete puhul töötluse tasemete hulk, katse ajaline kestvus ja ruumiline ulatus tavaliselt piiratud, mis tekitab "saare efekti", ei võimalda tuvastada ökosüsteemi taluvuspiire ning suurendab tulemuste põhjal ökosüsteemide tegelike reaktsioonide üle- või alahindamise riski (Beier jt, 2012; Leuzinger jt, 2015; Walker jt, 2020). Looduslikud väikeseskaalalised keskkonnagradiendid (näiteks geotermaalsed mullatemperatuurigradiendid) võimaldavad uurida suuri järk-järgulisi muutusi, mis toimuvad suhteliselt väikesel maa-alal, välistades samuti muude keskkonnafaktorite (kliima, aluskivim jne) samaaegse muutumise. See-eest tekivad sellised gradiendid järsult ning mõjuvad algselt häiringuna. Nii geotermaalsed gradiendid kui eksperimentaalne mullasoojendamine ei imiteeri kliimamuutusi täielikult, kuna ümbritsevat õhku ei soojendata ning ikkagi esineb "saare efekt" (Leblans, 2016; O'Gorman jt, 2014). Kahe eelneva katsetüübi puudujääke kompenseerivad mõnevõrra erinevatel laiuskraadidel tehtud uuringud (laiuskraadiuuringud), kus ajalisi muutusi prognoositakse ruumiliste seaduspärade põhjal. Laiuskraadiuuringute eelis on eksperimentaalne realism, "saare efekti" ja algse häiringu puudumine ning keskkonnatingimuste pikaajaline kestvus, mis võimaldab vaadelda püsivaid muutusi ja tasakaaluolekuid. Siiski esineb neilgi puudusi: laiuskraadigradiendil muutub korraga palju keskkonnafaktoreid (kliima, aluskivim, fotoperiodism jne), mis teeb põhjusliku seose eristamise keeruliseks. Ühtlasi on raske eristada, kuivõrd on täheldatud erinevused määratud geneetiliselt ja kuivõrd tuginevad fenotüübilisele plastilisusele. Kirjeldatud eripärade tõttu soovitatakse kliimamuutuste tagajärgede kohta usaldusväärsete ennustuste tegemiseks ülalkirjeldatud katsetüüpe kombineerida.

Käesoleva doktoritöö eesmärk oli hinnata eksperimentaalselt suurendatud õhuniiskuse ja nii eksperimentaalselt suurendatud kui looduslikult tõusnud mullatemperatuuri mõju kuuse (*Picea* spp.) ja arukase (*Betula pendula*) peen- ja imijuurtele ning neid koloniseerivatele seenekooslustele ja võrrelda saadud tulemusi laiuskraadigradientidel ilmnevate kohanemisstrateegiatega. Laiuskraadiuuringutes hinnati puuliigispetsiifilisi erinevusi peen- ja imijuurte reaktsioonides, pöörates tähelepanu ka samaaegsetele seene- ning bakterikoosluste muutustele. Õhuniiskuse tõusu mõju arukase imijuurte morfoloogiale ja neid koloniseerivale seenekooslusele uuriti FAHM-katsealal Eestis (I), kus õhuniisutusest tingituna oli suhteline õhuniiskus keskmiselt 7% kõrgem kui kontrollaladel. Mullasoojenemise mõju hariliku kuuse (*Picea abies*) ja sitka kuuse (*P. sitchensis*) peen- ja imijuurte biomassile ning imijuurte morfoloogiale uuriti kunstlikul mullasoojendamis-katsealal Achenkirchis Austrias ja looduslikul geotermaalsel mullatemperatuurigradiendil ForHot-katsealal Islandil (IV). Achenkirchi katsealal hoiti soojendatud katseringide mulda vegetatsiooniperioodi vältel 4 °C soojemana kui tavaoludes, ForHot mullatemperatuurigradiendi kõige soojemas katseringis oli mullatemperatuur ~10 °C soojem kui kontrollringis. Achenkirchi alal määrati ka imijuuri koloniseeriv seenekooslus. Laiuskraadiuuringud hõlmasid 14 kuusikut laiuskraadivahemikus 48–68°N ja 15 kaasikut laiuskraadivahemikus 53–66°N. Neil aladel hinnati muutusi imijuurte morfoloogias (II), peen- ja imijuurte biomassis, juuri koloniseerivas seenekoosluses ja mulla ning risosfääri bakterikoosluses (III).

Laiuskraadigradiendil kasvavates puistutes esinesid gradiendid aasta keskmises õhutemperatuuris ja sademete hulgas, vegetatsiooniperioodi pikkuses ning mullaviljakuses. Kuna kõik uuritud kaasikud kuulusid viljakatesse kasvukohatüüpidesse, siis nende kasvu võis põhjapool piirata pigem lühike vegetatsiooniperiood või madal temperatuur, erinevalt kuuskedest, mida võis mõjutada ka vähene lämmastiku kättesaadavus. Seevastu mõlemal mullasoojendamiskatsealal (Achenkirch, ForHot) oli mulla süsiniku-lämmastiku suhe (C:N) optimaalne ja mulla veesisaldus piisav, nii et lämmastiku või vee kättesaadavus ei saanud kuuskede kasvu pärssida. Kõrgem mullatemperatuur võis seevastu põhjustada suurema vajaduse teiste toitainete (fosfor, kaalium) järele, kiirendada juurte ainevahetust, võimendada juurehingamist või esile kutsuda suuremat patogeenide ja herbivooride aktiivsust (Gill ja Jackson, 2000; McCormack ja Guo, 2014; Schindlbacher jt, 2009). FAHM-katsealal, mis paikneb samuti viljakal mullal, on õhuniisutuse mõjul tuvastatud madalam ksüleemivoolu intensiivsus (Kupper jt, 2011), mistõttu väheneb toitainete massivool mullast juurteni ja raskendub toitainete omastamine juurte poolt. Seda võib omakorda võimendada tugevat konkurentsi pakkuv alustaimestu või funktsionaalne struktuurimuutus mulla ja risosfääribakterite kooslustes (Truu jt, 2017). Suurendatud õhuniiskuse tingimustes kasvanud arukaskedel on esialgu tõepoolest mõõdetud madalamat lehtede lämmastiku- ja fosforisisaldust (Sellin jt, 2013), millest võib järeldada puude kehvemat mineraaltoitainetega varustatust.

Nii kuused kui kased reageerisid raskendatud toitainete kättesaadavusele ja ebasobivatele kasvutingimustele aktiivselt imijuurte morfoloogiat muutes, mis oli esmane reaktsioon ajaliselt (õhuniisutuskatses) ning ilmnes juba madalamatel soojenemistasemetel (mullatemperatuurigradiendil). Õhuniisutuskatses olid morfoloogilised erinevused suurimad esimesel kahel katseaastal ning kolmandaks katseaastaks asendusid morfoloogilised erinevused niisutatud katseringides peenjuurte biomassi tõusuga. Geotermaalsel mullatemperatuurigradiendil olid olulised erinevused juuremorfoloogias välja kujunenud juba 3-kraadisel soojenemisel, kuid peen- ja imijuurte biomass langes märkimisväärselt alles alates 4-kraadisest soojenemisest. Samas nähtus Achenkirchi soojendamiskatsest ning laiuskraadiuuringutest, et morfoloogilised erinevused võivad olla vägagi püsivad. Üldine morfoloogiline reaktsioon keskkonnastressile (õhuniisutus, mullasoojendamine, põhjapoolsed suboptimaalsed kasvutingimused) väljendus pikemate, vähemharunenud imijuurte moodustamises ning omastava pinna suurendamises juuremassiühiku kohta (ehk suuremas eripinnas ja -pikkuses). Mullasoojenduskatsetes ning õhuniisutuskatse esimesel aastal kaasnes eelnimetatud muutustega ka juurte kudede tiheduse vähenemine, mis võib peegeldada juurte kiiremat elutsüklit ja lühemat eluiga. Laiuskraadigradiendil oli põhjapoolsete puistute juurte kudede tihedus seevastu suurem, korreleerudes pikema juurte elueaga. Juurte kudede tihedus eristus teistest parameetritest tundlikkuse poolest mullaviljakuse suhtes, suurenedes kõrgemate C:N väärtuste suunas nii soojenduskatsetes kui laiuskraadigradiendil. Nii kuused kui kased reageerisid madalale toitainete kättesaadavusele (nii põhjapoolsetes väheviljakates tingimustes kui õhuniisutusest tulenevalt) peen- ja imijuurte biomassi suurendamisega.

Kuigi kuusk ja kask reageerisid keskkonnamuutustele üldiselt samasuunaliselt, erinesid liigid kõige plastilisemate tunnuste poolest. Kase puhul tõusis kõige plastilisema parameetrina esile imijuurte eripikkus, mida mõjutas peamiselt juurte diameeter. Kase imijuured olid oluliselt peenemad ja suurema eripikkusega põhjapoolsetes puistutes ning sama reaktsioon ilmnes ka seoses õhuniisutusega. Peente suure eripinnaga juurte moodustamine võib olla vajalik hajutatult paiknevate ja väheliikuvate toitainete (näiteks fosforiühendite) efektiivsemaks omastamiseks, samas kui paksemate ja seetõttu väiksema eripinnaga juurte moodustamine viljakates lõunapoolsemates kasvukohtades võib olla kasulik, kuna paksem juurekorteks võimaldab intensiivsemat ainevahetust ning suuremat vastupanuvõimet patogeenidele (Holdaway jt, 2011; Kramer-Walter jt, 2016). Kuuse puhul varieerusid enim imijuurte harunemine, pikkus ja kaal. Pikemate vähemharunenud juurte moodustamine (nii põhjas kui ka soojendatud muldadel) viitab intensiivsemale mullaruumi hõivamisele, vähenenud juuretippude moodustamisele ja juuri koloniseeriva seenekoosluse muutumisele.

Juuri koloniseeriv seenpartner määras laiuskraadikatsetes 47% kuuse ja 57% kase imijuurte morfoloogilisest varieeruvusest. Kuuse puhul on näidatud, et juurte kudede tihedus väheneb ja eripind suureneb kontakt-mütseelitüübist (contact exploration type) kauglevi-mütseelitüübi (long-distance exploration type) suunas ning suurema hüüfimassiga kauglevi-mütseelitüüpi moodustavate seeneliikide osakaal on parasvöötme metsades suurem kui boreaalsetes metsades (Ostonen jt, 2011). Kuigi lõunapoolsetes metsades tekib seetõttu mulda juurte pikkusühiku kohta rohkem hüüfimassi, on põhjapool suurema juuretippude arvu tõttu mullas paikneva mütseeli biomass siiski 2-4 korda kõrgem. Kunstlik 4-kraadine mullasoojendamine kutsus imijuuri koloniseerivas ektomükoriisakoosluses esile perekond Tomentella ohtruse tõusu ning toetas kauglevi-mütseelitüüpi moodustavate liikide (Boletus luridus) esinemist. Õhuniisutus põhjustas nihke hüdrofiilsete morfotüüpide ja perekond Tomentella osakaalu suurenemise suunas. Tomentella liikidele on omane kõrge funktsionaalne plastilisus, mis seletab nende suurt ohtrust ja häiringutaluvust. Ühtlasi on nad võimelised tootma ensüüme, mis on vajalikud värske varise lagundamiseks. Sellised muutused ektomükoriisakoosluses võivad olla osaliselt seotud intensiivsema juurekäibega, mis ilmnes nii õhuniisutuse kui mullasoojenemise tingimustes.

Laiuskraadiuuringutes tuvastati olulised kolmepoolsed seosed juuremorfoloogia, juuri koloniseeriva ektomükoriisakoosluse ning mulla ja risosfääri bakterikoosluse vahel. Bakterikoosluse struktuur ja mitmekesisus seostusid morfoloogilistest parameetritest enim imijuurte keskmise tipumassi, kudede tiheduse ning harunemisega, mis viitab sellele, et noorte väikese tihedusega juuretippude ümber leidus rohkem bakteriliike, tõenäoliselt parema toitainete kättesaadavuse tõttu. Kõige tugevamalt mõjutasid bakterikooslust aga mullatingimused, nagu C:N suhe, pH ja fosforisisaldus. Üleüldse oli piki laiuskraadigradienti peamine imijuuri ja nendega seotud mikroobikooslusi mõjutav tegur mulla C:N suhe.

Antud doktoritöö pakub väärtuslikku uut teavet kuuse ja kase peenjuurte ja risobioomide oodatavate kohanemismustrite kohta ning näitab, et keskkonnamuutused kutsuvad esile komplementaarseid nihkeid kõigil peenjuurestiku tasemetel. Esmakordselt kirjeldati juureparameetrite muutusi piki temperatuurigradienti kuni puude suremispiirini ning jälgiti õhuniisutuse mõju ajalist dünaamikat imijuurte morfoloogiale. Käesolevalt on näidatud, kuidas suurenenud õhuniiskus ja soojem muld puude peenjuurestikke ja juuri koloniseerivaid mikroobikooslusi eraldiseisvalt mõjutavad. Süsinikuvoogude usaldusväärsemaks prognoosimiseks on aga praegusest enam teavet vaja koguda ka mitmefaktorilistest katsetest, kuna erinevate kliimamuutusetegurite mõjud ei pruugi olla aditiivsed. Ühtlasi on kliimamuutuste uuringuid vaja teostada pikaajalisemalt, kuna ökosüsteemide reaktsioonid on sageli ajas muutuvad, ning vaadelda tuleks võimalikult suurt osa ökosüsteemi komponentidest ja protsessidest korraga, sest nagu antud töös nähtub – erinevate organismirühmade ja taimeparameetrite reaktsioonid keskkonnamuutustele on omavahel tugevalt seotud.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisors Dr. Ivika Ostonen and Prof. Krista Lõhmus for constructive discussions, valuable advice and support during my studies. It has been assuring to know that you are there for me at any time and ready to answer any question that may arise.

I wish to express my gratitude to all the co-authors of our articles for providing data and useful recommendations during the publication process and providing support and advice while writing the thesis. Thank you, Priit, Katrin, Arvo, Sten, Sergei, Marika, Jaak and Kristjan for finding time for all my questions!

I acknowledge all the diligent lab assistants for their help with the labourintensive root work.

Finally, I am most grateful for the patience and encouragement of my friends and family, especially my mother for heroical baby-sitting and psychological support during the hardest times and Pihel for being our sunshine every day and bringing balance into my life.

This study was financially supported by the Estonian Science Foundation (Grant nos. 7792, 7452); the EU through the European Regional Development Fund (Centres of Excellence FIBIR, ENVIRON and EcolChange); the Estonian Ministry of Education and Research (projects SF0180025s12, IUT2-16, IUT34-9, PRG916); ExpeER project "Ectomycorrhizal short-root acclimation to soil warming"; the Icelandic ForHot-Forest Project (IRF Fund, No. 163272-051), the CAR-ES Nordic Network, the COST Actions ClimMani (ES1308), Biolink (FP1305) and FP0803, the Doctoral School of Earth Sciences and Ecology and Dora Plus sub-action 1.1; Lydia and Felix Krabi Scholarship Fund, Estonian Students Fund in USA and L'ORÉAL Baltic "For Women In Science" fellowship with the support of the Estonian National Commission for UNESCO and the Estonian Academy of Sciences.

PUBLICATIONS

CURRICULUM VITAE

Name:	Kaarin Parts
Date of Birth:	20.03.1988
Nationality:	Estonian
Phone:	+372 55 656 986
E-mail:	kaarinparts@gmail.com

Education:

2013-	PhD studies in Botany and Ecology, University of Tartu
2010-2013	MSc in Biology, University of Tartu; cum laude
2012–2012	Voronezh State University, student exchange programme
2007–2010	BSc in Biology, University of Tartu; cum laude
1996–2007	Tallinn English College; cum laude
1999–2002	St. Andrew's College, Dublin

Professional employment:

2014–2018	University of Tartu, Institute of Ecology and Earth Sciences;
	Ecophysiology specialist
2012-2015	Estonian Fund for Nature; Forest programme specialist
2008–2010	University of Tartu, Laboratory of Root and Rhizosphere
	Studies; laboratory technician

Field of research:

Acclimation strategies of tree fine and absorptive roots and their rhizosphere symbionts along environmental gradients and in relation to climate change. Morphological plasticity of ectomycorrhizal roots.

Publications:

- Parts, K., Tedersoo, L., Schindlbacher, A., Sigurdsson, B.D., Leblans, N.I.W., Oddsdóttir, E.S., Borken, W., Ostonen, I., 2019. Acclimation of fine root systems to soil warming: comparison of an experimental setup and a natural soil temperature gradient. Ecosystems 22, 457–472.
- Ostonen, I., Truu, M., Helmisaari, H.-S., Lukac, M., Borken, W., Vanguelova, E., Godbold, D.L., Lõhmus, K., Zang, U., Tedersoo, L., Preem, J.-K., Rosenvald, K., Aosaar, J., Armolaitis, K., Frey, J., Kabral, N., Kukumägi, M., Leppälammi-Kujansuu, J., Lindroos, A.-J., Merilä, P., Napa, Ü., Nöjd, P., Parts, K., Uri, V., Varik, M., Truu, J., 2017. Adaptive root foraging strategies along a boreal-temperate forest gradient. New Phytologist 215, 977–991.
- Truu, M., Ostonen, I., Preem, J.-K., Lõhmus, K., Nõlvak, H., Ligi, T., Rosenvald, K., Parts, K., Kupper, P., Truu, J., 2017. Elevated Air Humidity Changes Soil Bacterial Community Structure in the Silver Birch Stand. Frontiers in Microbiology 8, 557.

- Tedersoo, L., Bahram, M., Põlme, S., Kõljalg, U., Yorou, N.S., Wijesundera, R., Villarreal-Ruiz, L., Vasco-Palacios, A., Quang Thu, P., Suija, A., Smith, M.E., Sharp, C., Saluveer, E., Saitta, A., Ratkowsky, D., Pritsch, K., Riit, T., Põldmaa, K., Piepenbring, M., Phosri, C., Peterson, M., Parts, K., Pärtel, K., Otsing, E., Nouhra, E., Njouonkou, A.L., Nilsson, R.H., Morgado, L.N., Mayor, J., May, T.W., Kohout, P., Hosaka, K., Hiiesalu, I., Henkel, T.W., Harend, H., Guo, L., Greslebin, A., Grelet, G., Geml, J., Gates, G., Dunstan, W., Dunk, C., Drenkhan, R., Dearnaley, J., De Kesel, A., Dang, T., Chen, X., Buegger, F., Brearley, F.Q., Bonito, G., Anslan, S., Abell, S., Abarenkov, K., 2014. Global diversity and geography of soil fungi. Science 346, 1078
- Parts, K., Tedersoo, L., Lõhmus, K., Kupper, P., Rosenvald, K., Sõber, A., Ostonen, I., 2013. Increased air humidity and understory composition shape short root traits and the colonizing ectomycorrhizal fungal community in silver birch stands. Forest Ecology and Management 310, 720–728.
- Ostonen, I., Rosenvald, K., Helmisaari, H.-S., Godbold, D., Parts, K., Uri, V., Lõhmus, K., 2013. Morphological plasticity of ectomycorrhizal short roots in Betula sp and Picea abies forests across climate and forest succession gradients: its role in changing environments. Frontiers in Plant Science 4, 335.

Conference presentations:

- **Parts, K.,** Tedersoo, L., Schindlbacher, A., Sigurdsson, B.D., Leblans, N.I.W., Oddsdóttir, E.S., Borken, W., Ostonen, I. "Fine Root System Acclimations Before Dieback with Artificial and Geothermal Soil Warming". Oral presentation. 8–12 July, 2018. 10th Symposium of the International Society of Root Research (ISRR10), in Yearim Hotel, Israel.
- Parts, K., Tedersoo, L., Schindlbacher, A., Sigurdsson, B.D., Leblans, N.I.W., Ostonen, I. "Absorptive Root Morphology and Rhizosphere Microbial Community Respond to Climate Change: Results from Air Humidification and Soil Warming Experiments". Poster presentation. 26–29 June, 2017. 7th International Symposium on Physiological Processes in Roots of Woody Plants, in Tartu, Estonia.
- Parts, K., Tedersoo, L., Lõhmus, K., Kupper, P., Rosenvald, K., Schindlbacher, A., Sigurdsson, B.D., Sõber, A., Ostonen, I. "Tree Roots Adapt to Climate Change – Experiments with Air Humidity and Soil Temperature". Oral presentation. 8–12 September, 2014. 6th International Symposium on Physiological Processes in Roots of Woody Plants, in Nagoya, Japan.
- Parts, K., Tedersoo, L., Lõhmus, K., Kupper, P., Rosenvald, K., Sõber, A., Ostonen, I. "Increased Air Humidity and Understory Composition Shape Short Root Traits and the Colonizing Ectomycorrhizal Fungal Community in Silver Birch Stands". Poster presentation. 13–17 July, 2014. BIOGEOMON 2014 – 8th International Symposium on Ecosystem Behavior, in Bayreuth, Germany.

Awards and scholarships:

- 2019 L'ORÉAL Baltic "For Women In Science" fellowship with the support of the Estonian National Commission for UNESCO and the Estonian Academy of Sciences
- 2018 Estonian Students Fund in USA
- 2017 Lydia and Felix Krabi Scholarship Fund
- 2018 Travelling grant from the Dora Plus sub-action 1.1 Short-term mobility
- 2014 Travelling grant from the Doctoral School of Ecology and Earth Sciences

ELULOOKIRJELDUS

Nimi: Sünniaeg: Kodakondsus: Telefon: E-mail:	Kaarin Parts 20.03.1988 Eesti +372 55 656 986 kaarinparts@gmail.com
Haridustee:	
2013-	Doktoriõpe taimeökoloogia ja ökofüsioloogia erialal, Tartu Ülikool
2010–2013	Magistrikraad taime- ja seeneteaduse erialal, Tartu Ülikool; cum laude
2012 kevad-	
semester	Vahetusüliõpilane Voroneži Riiklikus Ülikoolis
2007-2010	Bakalaureusekraad bioloogia erialal, Tartu Ülikool; cum laude
1996-2007	Tallinna Inglise Kolledž; kuldmedal
1999–2002	St. Andrew's College, Dublin

Teenistuskäik:

2014–2018	Tartu Ülikool, Ökoloogia ja maateaduste instituut;
	ökofüsioloogia spetsialist
2012-2015	Eestimaa Looduse Fond; metsaprogrammi spetsialist
2008–2010	Tartu Ülikool, laborant risosfääriuuringute laboris

Teadustöö põhisuunad:

Peen- ja imijuurte ning juuresümbiontide kohanemisstrateegiad seoses kliimamuutustega ning piki keskkonnagradiente. Ektomükoriissete imijuurte morfoloogiline plastilisus.

Publikatsioonid:

- Parts, K., Tedersoo, L., Schindlbacher, A., Sigurdsson, B.D., Leblans, N.I.W., Oddsdóttir, E.S., Borken, W., Ostonen, I., 2019. Acclimation of fine root systems to soil warming: comparison of an experimental setup and a natural soil temperature gradient. Ecosystems 22, 457–472.
- Ostonen, I., Truu, M., Helmisaari, H.-S., Lukac, M., Borken, W., Vanguelova, E., Godbold, D.L., Lõhmus, K., Zang, U., Tedersoo, L., Preem, J.-K., Rosenvald, K., Aosaar, J., Armolaitis, K., Frey, J., Kabral, N., Kukumägi, M., Leppälammi-Kujansuu, J., Lindroos, A.-J., Merilä, P., Napa, Ü., Nöjd, P., Parts, K., Uri, V., Varik, M., Truu, J., 2017. Adaptive root foraging strategies along a boreal-temperate forest gradient. New Phytologist 215, 977–991.
- Truu, M., Ostonen, I., Preem, J.-K., Lõhmus, K., Nõlvak, H., Ligi, T., Rosenvald, K., Parts, K., Kupper, P., Truu, J., 2017. Elevated Air Humidity Changes Soil Bacterial Community Structure in the Silver Birch Stand. Frontiers in Microbiology 8, 557.

- Tedersoo, L., Bahram, M., Põlme, S., Kõljalg, U., Yorou, N.S., Wijesundera, R., Villarreal-Ruiz, L., Vasco-Palacios, A., Quang Thu, P., Suija, A., Smith, M.E., Sharp, C., Saluveer, E., Saitta, A., Ratkowsky, D., Pritsch, K., Riit, T., Põldmaa, K., Piepenbring, M., Phosri, C., Peterson, M., Parts, K., Pärtel, K., Otsing, E., Nouhra, E., Njouonkou, A.L., Nilsson, R.H., Morgado, L.N., Mayor, J., May, T.W., Kohout, P., Hosaka, K., Hiiesalu, I., Henkel, T.W., Harend, H., Guo, L., Greslebin, A., Grelet, G., Geml, J., Gates, G., Dunstan, W., Dunk, C., Drenkhan, R., Dearnaley, J., De Kesel, A., Dang, T., Chen, X., Buegger, F., Brearley, F.Q., Bonito, G., Anslan, S., Abell, S., Abarenkov, K., 2014. Global diversity and geography of soil fungi. Science 346, 1078
- Parts, K., Tedersoo, L., Lõhmus, K., Kupper, P., Rosenvald, K., Sõber, A., Ostonen, I., 2013. Increased air humidity and understory composition shape short root traits and the colonizing ectomycorrhizal fungal community in silver birch stands. Forest Ecology and Management 310, 720–728.
- Ostonen, I., Rosenvald, K., Helmisaari, H.-S., Godbold, D., Parts, K., Uri, V., Lõhmus, K., 2013. Morphological plasticity of ectomycorrhizal short roots in Betula sp and Picea abies forests across climate and forest succession gradients: its role in changing environments. Frontiers in Plant Science 4, 335.

Konverentsiettekanded:

- Parts, K., Tedersoo, L., Schindlbacher, A., Sigurdsson, B.D., Leblans, N.I.W., Oddsdóttir, E.S., Borken, W., Ostonen, I. "Fine Root System Acclimations Before Dieback with Artificial and Geothermal Soil Warming". Suuline ettekanne. 8–12 juuli, 2018. 10th Symposium of the International Society of Root Research (ISRR10), Yearim Hotell, Iisrael.
- Parts, K., Tedersoo, L., Schindlbacher, A., Sigurdsson, B.D., Leblans, N.I.W., Ostonen, I. "Absorptive Root Morphology and Rhizosphere Microbial Community Respond to Climate Change: Results from Air Humidification and Soil Warming Experiments". Plakatettekanne. 26–29 juuni, 2017. 7th International Symposium on Physiological Processes in Roots of Woody Plants, Tartu, Eesti.
- Parts, K., Tedersoo, L., Lõhmus, K., Kupper, P., Rosenvald, K., Schindlbacher, A., Sigurdsson, B.D., Sõber, A., Ostonen, I. "Tree Roots Adapt to Climate Change – Experiments with Air Humidity and Soil Temperature". Suuline ettekanne. 8–12 september, 2014. 6th International Symposium on Physiological Processes in Roots of Woody Plants, Nagoya, Jaapan.
- Parts, K., Tedersoo, L., Lõhmus, K., Kupper, P., Rosenvald, K., Sõber, A., Ostonen, I. "Increased Air Humidity and Understory Composition Shape Short Root Traits and the Colonizing Ectomycorrhizal Fungal Community in Silver Birch Stands". Plakatettekanne. 13–17 juuli, 2014. BIOGEOMON 2014 – 8th International Symposium on Ecosystem Behavior, Bayreuth, Saksamaa.

Saadud uurimistoetused ja stipendiumid:

L'Oréal'i "Naised teaduses" preemia 2019

Eesti Üliõpilaste Toetusfondi stipendium 2018

Lydia ja Felix Krabi stipendium 2017

Maateaduste ja ökoloogia doktorikooli ning Dora Pluss (alategevus 1.1) lühiajalise õpirände välissõidutoetused teaduskonverentsidel osalemiseks aastatel 2014 ja 2018

DISSERTATIONES BIOLOGICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS

- 1. Toivo Maimets. Studies of human oncoprotein p53. Tartu, 1991, 96 p.
- 2. Enn K. Seppet. Thyroid state control over energy metabolism, ion transport and contractile functions in rat heart. Tartu, 1991, 135 p.
- 3. Kristjan Zobel. Epifüütsete makrosamblike väärtus õhu saastuse indikaatoritena Hamar-Dobani boreaalsetes mägimetsades. Tartu, 1992, 131 lk.
- 4. Andres Mäe. Conjugal mobilization of catabolic plasmids by transposable elements in helper plasmids. Tartu, 1992, 91 p.
- 5. Maia Kivisaar. Studies on phenol degradation genes of *Pseudomonas* sp. strain EST 1001. Tartu, 1992, 61 p.
- 6. Allan Nurk. Nucleotide sequences of phenol degradative genes from *Pseudomonas sp.* strain EST 1001 and their transcriptional activation in *Pseudomonas putida*. Tartu, 1992, 72 p.
- 7. Ülo Tamm. The genus *Populus* L. in Estonia: variation of the species biology and introduction. Tartu, 1993, 91 p.
- 8. Jaanus Remme. Studies on the peptidyltransferase centre of the *E.coli* ribosome. Tartu, 1993, 68 p.
- 9. Ülo Langel. Galanin and galanin antagonists. Tartu, 1993, 97 p.
- 10. Arvo Käärd. The development of an automatic online dynamic fluorescense-based pH-dependent fiber optic penicillin flowthrought biosensor for the control of the benzylpenicillin hydrolysis. Tartu, 1993, 117 p.
- 11. Lilian Järvekülg. Antigenic analysis and development of sensitive immunoassay for potato viruses. Tartu, 1993, 147 p.
- 12. Jaak Palumets. Analysis of phytomass partition in Norway spruce. Tartu, 1993, 47 p.
- 13. Arne Sellin. Variation in hydraulic architecture of *Picea abies* (L.) Karst. trees grown under different environmental conditions. Tartu, 1994, 119 p.
- 13. **Mati Reeben**. Regulation of light neurofilament gene expression. Tartu, 1994, 108 p.
- 14. Urmas Tartes. Respiration rhytms in insects. Tartu, 1995, 109 p.
- 15. Ülo Puurand. The complete nucleotide sequence and infections *in vitro* transcripts from cloned cDNA of a potato A potyvirus. Tartu, 1995, 96 p.
- 16. **Peeter Hõrak**. Pathways of selection in avian reproduction: a functional framework and its application in the population study of the great tit (*Parus major*). Tartu, 1995, 118 p.
- 17. Erkki Truve. Studies on specific and broad spectrum virus resistance in transgenic plants. Tartu, 1996, 158 p.
- 18. **Illar Pata**. Cloning and characterization of human and mouse ribosomal protein S6-encoding genes. Tartu, 1996, 60 p.
- 19. Ülo Niinemets. Importance of structural features of leaves and canopy in determining species shade-tolerance in temperature deciduous woody taxa. Tartu, 1996, 150 p.

- 20. Ants Kurg. Bovine leukemia virus: molecular studies on the packaging region and DNA diagnostics in cattle. Tartu, 1996, 104 p.
- 21. **Ene Ustav**. E2 as the modulator of the BPV1 DNA replication. Tartu, 1996, 100 p.
- 22. Aksel Soosaar. Role of helix-loop-helix and nuclear hormone receptor transcription factors in neurogenesis. Tartu, 1996, 109 p.
- 23. Maido Remm. Human papillomavirus type 18: replication, transformation and gene expression. Tartu, 1997, 117 p.
- 24. **Tiiu Kull**. Population dynamics in *Cypripedium calceolus* L. Tartu, 1997, 124 p.
- 25. Kalle Olli. Evolutionary life-strategies of autotrophic planktonic microorganisms in the Baltic Sea. Tartu, 1997, 180 p.
- 26. **Meelis Pärtel**. Species diversity and community dynamics in calcareous grassland communities in Western Estonia. Tartu, 1997, 124 p.
- 27. **Malle Leht**. The Genus *Potentilla* L. in Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania: distribution, morphology and taxonomy. Tartu, 1997, 186 p.
- 28. **Tanel Tenson**. Ribosomes, peptides and antibiotic resistance. Tartu, 1997, 80 p.
- 29. Arvo Tuvikene. Assessment of inland water pollution using biomarker responses in fish *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Tartu, 1997, 160 p.
- 30. Urmas Saarma. Tuning ribosomal elongation cycle by mutagenesis of 23S rRNA. Tartu, 1997, 134 p.
- 31. **Henn Ojaveer**. Composition and dynamics of fish stocks in the gulf of Riga ecosystem. Tartu, 1997, 138 p.
- 32. Lembi Lõugas. Post-glacial development of vertebrate fauna in Estonian water bodies. Tartu, 1997, 138 p.
- 33. Margus Pooga. Cell penetrating peptide, transportan, and its predecessors, galanin-based chimeric peptides. Tartu, 1998, 110 p.
- 34. Andres Saag. Evolutionary relationships in some cetrarioid genera (Lichenized Ascomycota). Tartu, 1998, 196 p.
- 35. Aivar Liiv. Ribosomal large subunit assembly in vivo. Tartu, 1998, 158 p.
- 36. **Tatjana Oja**. Isoenzyme diversity and phylogenetic affinities among the eurasian annual bromes (*Bromus* L., Poaceae). Tartu, 1998, 92 p.
- 37. **Mari Moora**. The influence of arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) symbiosis on the competition and coexistence of calcareous grassland plant species. Tartu, 1998, 78 p.
- Olavi Kurina. Fungus gnats in Estonia (Diptera: Bolitophilidae, Keroplatidae, Macroceridae, Ditomyiidae, Diadocidiidae, Mycetophilidae). Tartu, 1998, 200 p.
- 39. Andrus Tasa. Biological leaching of shales: black shale and oil shale. Tartu, 1998, 98 p.
- 40. Arnold Kristjuhan. Studies on transcriptional activator properties of tumor suppressor protein p53. Tartu, 1998, 86 p.
- 41. Sulev Ingerpuu. Characterization of some human myeloid cell surface and nuclear differentiation antigens. Tartu, 1998, 163 p.

- 42. Veljo Kisand. Responses of planktonic bacteria to the abiotic and biotic factors in the shallow lake Võrtsjärv. Tartu, 1998, 118 p.
- 43. Kadri Põldmaa. Studies in the systematics of hypomyces and allied genera (Hypocreales, Ascomycota). Tartu, 1998, 178 p.
- 44. Markus Vetemaa. Reproduction parameters of fish as indicators in environmental monitoring. Tartu, 1998, 117 p.
- 45. Heli Talvik. Prepatent periods and species composition of different *Oeso-phagostomum* spp. populations in Estonia and Denmark. Tartu, 1998, 104 p.
- 46. Katrin Heinsoo. Cuticular and stomatal antechamber conductance to water vapour diffusion in *Picea abies* (L.) karst. Tartu, 1999, 133 p.
- 47. **Tarmo Annilo**. Studies on mammalian ribosomal protein S7. Tartu, 1998, 77 p.
- 48. **Indrek Ots**. Health state indicies of reproducing great tits (*Parus major*): sources of variation and connections with life-history traits. Tartu, 1999, 117 p.
- 49. Juan Jose Cantero. Plant community diversity and habitat relationships in central Argentina grasslands. Tartu, 1999, 161 p.
- 50. **Rein Kalamees**. Seed bank, seed rain and community regeneration in Estonian calcareous grasslands. Tartu, 1999, 107 p.
- 51. Sulev Kõks. Cholecystokinin (CCK) induced anxiety in rats: influence of environmental stimuli and involvement of endopioid mechanisms and serotonin. Tartu, 1999, 123 p.
- 52. Ebe Sild. Impact of increasing concentrations of O_3 and CO_2 on wheat, clover and pasture. Tartu, 1999, 123 p.
- 53. Ljudmilla Timofejeva. Electron microscopical analysis of the synaptonemal complex formation in cereals. Tartu, 1999, 99 p.
- 54. Andres Valkna. Interactions of galanin receptor with ligands and G-proteins: studies with synthetic peptides. Tartu, 1999, 103 p.
- 55. **Taavi Virro**. Life cycles of planktonic rotifers in lake Peipsi. Tartu, 1999, 101 p.
- 56. Ana Rebane. Mammalian ribosomal protein S3a genes and intronencoded small nucleolar RNAs U73 and U82. Tartu, 1999, 85 p.
- 57. **Tiina Tamm**. Cocksfoot mottle virus: the genome organisation and translational strategies. Tartu, 2000, 101 p.
- 58. **Reet Kurg**. Structure-function relationship of the bovine papilloma virus E2 protein. Tartu, 2000, 89 p.
- 59. **Toomas Kivisild**. The origins of Southern and Western Eurasian populations: an mtDNA study. Tartu, 2000, 121 p.
- 60. Niilo Kaldalu. Studies of the TOL plasmid transcription factor XylS. Tartu, 2000, 88 p.
- 61. **Dina Lepik**. Modulation of viral DNA replication by tumor suppressor protein p53. Tartu, 2000, 106 p.

- 62. **Kai Vellak**. Influence of different factors on the diversity of the bryophyte vegetation in forest and wooded meadow communities. Tartu, 2000, 122 p.
- 63. Jonne Kotta. Impact of eutrophication and biological invasionas on the structure and functions of benthic macrofauna. Tartu, 2000, 160 p.
- 64. Georg Martin. Phytobenthic communities of the Gulf of Riga and the inner sea the West-Estonian archipelago. Tartu, 2000, 139 p.
- 65. Silvia Sepp. Morphological and genetical variation of *Alchemilla L*. in Estonia. Tartu, 2000. 124 p.
- 66. **Jaan Liira**. On the determinants of structure and diversity in herbaceous plant communities. Tartu, 2000, 96 p.
- 67. **Priit Zingel**. The role of planktonic ciliates in lake ecosystems. Tartu, 2001, 111 p.
- 68. **Tiit Teder**. Direct and indirect effects in Host-parasitoid interactions: ecological and evolutionary consequences. Tartu, 2001, 122 p.
- 69. **Hannes Kollist**. Leaf apoplastic ascorbate as ozone scavenger and its transport across the plasma membrane. Tartu, 2001, 80 p.
- 70. **Reet Marits**. Role of two-component regulator system PehR-PehS and extracellular protease PrtW in virulence of *Erwinia Carotovora* subsp. *Carotovora*. Tartu, 2001, 112 p.
- 71. Vallo Tilgar. Effect of calcium supplementation on reproductive performance of the pied flycatcher *Ficedula hypoleuca* and the great tit *Parus major*, breeding in Nothern temperate forests. Tartu, 2002, 126 p.
- 72. **Rita Hõrak**. Regulation of transposition of transposon Tn4652 in *Pseudo-monas putida*. Tartu, 2002, 108 p.
- 73. Liina Eek-Piirsoo. The effect of fertilization, mowing and additional illumination on the structure of a species-rich grassland community. Tartu, 2002, 74 p.
- 74. **Krõõt Aasamaa**. Shoot hydraulic conductance and stomatal conductance of six temperate deciduous tree species. Tartu, 2002, 110 p.
- 75. **Nele Ingerpuu**. Bryophyte diversity and vascular plants. Tartu, 2002, 112 p.
- 76. **Neeme Tõnisson**. Mutation detection by primer extension on oligonucleotide microarrays. Tartu, 2002, 124 p.
- 77. **Margus Pensa**. Variation in needle retention of Scots pine in relation to leaf morphology, nitrogen conservation and tree age. Tartu, 2003, 110 p.
- 78. **Asko Lõhmus**. Habitat preferences and quality for birds of prey: from principles to applications. Tartu, 2003, 168 p.
- 79. Viljar Jaks. p53 a switch in cellular circuit. Tartu, 2003, 160 p.
- 80. Jaana Männik. Characterization and genetic studies of four ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters. Tartu, 2003, 140 p.
- 81. Marek Sammul. Competition and coexistence of clonal plants in relation to productivity. Tartu, 2003, 159 p
- 82. **Ivar Ilves**. Virus-cell interactions in the replication cycle of bovine papillomavirus type 1. Tartu, 2003, 89 p.

- 83. Andres Männik. Design and characterization of a novel vector system based on the stable replicator of bovine papillomavirus type 1. Tartu, 2003, 109 p.
- 84. **Ivika Ostonen**. Fine root structure, dynamics and proportion in net primary production of Norway spruce forest ecosystem in relation to site conditions. Tartu, 2003, 158 p.
- 85. **Gudrun Veldre**. Somatic status of 12–15-year-old Tartu schoolchildren. Tartu, 2003, 199 p.
- 86. Ülo Väli. The greater spotted eagle *Aquila clanga* and the lesser spotted eagle *A. pomarina*: taxonomy, phylogeography and ecology. Tartu, 2004, 159 p.
- 87. Aare Abroi. The determinants for the native activities of the bovine papillomavirus type 1 E2 protein are separable. Tartu, 2004, 135 p.
- 88. Tiina Kahre. Cystic fibrosis in Estonia. Tartu, 2004, 116 p.
- 89. Helen Orav-Kotta. Habitat choice and feeding activity of benthic suspension feeders and mesograzers in the northern Baltic Sea. Tartu, 2004, 117 p.
- 90. **Maarja Öpik**. Diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in the roots of perennial plants and their effect on plant performance. Tartu, 2004, 175 p.
- 91. Kadri Tali. Species structure of *Neotinea ustulata*. Tartu, 2004, 109 p.
- 92. Kristiina Tambets. Towards the understanding of post-glacial spread of human mitochondrial DNA haplogroups in Europe and beyond: a phylogeographic approach. Tartu, 2004, 163 p.
- 93. Arvi Jõers. Regulation of p53-dependent transcription. Tartu, 2004, 103 p.
- 94. Lilian Kadaja. Studies on modulation of the activity of tumor suppressor protein p53. Tartu, 2004, 103 p.
- 95. Jaak Truu. Oil shale industry wastewater: impact on river microbial community and possibilities for bioremediation. Tartu, 2004, 128 p.
- 96. **Maire Peters**. Natural horizontal transfer of the *pheBA* operon. Tartu, 2004, 105 p.
- 97. Ülo Maiväli. Studies on the structure-function relationship of the bacterial ribosome. Tartu, 2004, 130 p.
- 98. Merit Otsus. Plant community regeneration and species diversity in dry calcareous grasslands. Tartu, 2004, 103 p.
- 99. Mikk Heidemaa. Systematic studies on sawflies of the genera *Dolerus*, *Empria*, and *Caliroa* (Hymenoptera: Tenthredinidae). Tartu, 2004, 167 p.
- 100. **Ilmar Tõnno**. The impact of nitrogen and phosphorus concentration and N/P ratio on cyanobacterial dominance and N_2 fixation in some Estonian lakes. Tartu, 2004, 111 p.
- 101. Lauri Saks. Immune function, parasites, and carotenoid-based ornaments in greenfinches. Tartu, 2004, 144 p.
- 102. Siiri Rootsi. Human Y-chromosomal variation in European populations. Tartu, 2004, 142 p.
- 103. **Eve Vedler**. Structure of the 2,4-dichloro-phenoxyacetic acid-degradative plasmid pEST4011. Tartu, 2005. 106 p.

- 104. Andres Tover. Regulation of transcription of the phenol degradation *pheBA* operon in *Pseudomonas putida*. Tartu, 2005, 126 p.
- 105. Helen Udras. Hexose kinases and glucose transport in the yeast *Hansenula polymorpha*. Tartu, 2005, 100 p.
- 106. Ave Suija. Lichens and lichenicolous fungi in Estonia: diversity, distribution patterns, taxonomy. Tartu, 2005, 162 p.
- 107. **Piret Lõhmus**. Forest lichens and their substrata in Estonia. Tartu, 2005, 162 p.
- 108. Inga Lips. Abiotic factors controlling the cyanobacterial bloom occurrence in the Gulf of Finland. Tartu, 2005, 156 p.
- 109. Krista Kaasik. Circadian clock genes in mammalian clockwork, metabolism and behaviour. Tartu, 2005, 121 p.
- 110. Juhan Javoiš. The effects of experience on host acceptance in ovipositing moths. Tartu, 2005, 112 p.
- 111. **Tiina Sedman**. Characterization of the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* mitochondrial DNA helicase Hmi1. Tartu, 2005, 103 p.
- 112. **Ruth Aguraiuja**. Hawaiian endemic fern lineage *Diellia* (Aspleniaceae): distribution, population structure and ecology. Tartu, 2005, 112 p.
- 113. **Riho Teras**. Regulation of transcription from the fusion promoters generated by transposition of Tn4652 into the upstream region of *pheBA* operon in *Pseudomonas putida*. Tartu, 2005, 106 p.
- 114. **Mait Metspalu**. Through the course of prehistory in India: tracing the mtDNA trail. Tartu, 2005, 138 p.
- 115. Elin Lõhmussaar. The comparative patterns of linkage disequilibrium in European populations and its implication for genetic association studies. Tartu, 2006, 124 p.
- 116. **Priit Kupper**. Hydraulic and environmental limitations to leaf water relations in trees with respect to canopy position. Tartu, 2006, 126 p.
- 117. Heili Ilves. Stress-induced transposition of Tn4652 in *Pseudomonas Putida*. Tartu, 2006, 120 p.
- 118. **Silja Kuusk**. Biochemical properties of Hmi1p, a DNA helicase from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* mitochondria. Tartu, 2006, 126 p.
- 119. Kersti Püssa. Forest edges on medium resolution landsat thematic mapper satellite images. Tartu, 2006, 90 p.
- 120. Lea Tummeleht. Physiological condition and immune function in great tits (*Parus major* 1.): Sources of variation and trade-offs in relation to growth. Tartu, 2006, 94 p.
- 121. **Toomas Esperk**. Larval instar as a key element of insect growth schedules. Tartu, 2006, 186 p.
- 122. Harri Valdmann. Lynx (*Lynx lynx*) and wolf (*Canis lupus*) in the Baltic region: Diets, helminth parasites and genetic variation. Tartu, 2006. 102 p.
- 123. Priit Jõers. Studies of the mitochondrial helicase Hmi1p in *Candida albicans* and *Saccharomyces cerevisia*. Tartu, 2006. 113 p.
- 124. Kersti Lilleväli. Gata3 and Gata2 in inner ear development. Tartu, 2007, 123 p.

- 125. Kai Rünk. Comparative ecology of three fern species: Dryopteris carthusiana (Vill.) H.P. Fuchs, D. expansa (C. Presl) Fraser-Jenkins & Jermy and D. dilatata (Hoffm.) A. Gray (Dryopteridaceae). Tartu, 2007, 143 p.
- 126. Aveliina Helm. Formation and persistence of dry grassland diversity: role of human history and landscape structure. Tartu, 2007, 89 p.
- 127. Leho Tedersoo. Ectomycorrhizal fungi: diversity and community structure in Estonia, Seychelles and Australia. Tartu, 2007, 233 p.
- 128. **Marko Mägi**. The habitat-related variation of reproductive performance of great tits in a deciduous-coniferous forest mosaic: looking for causes and consequences. Tartu, 2007, 135 p.
- 129. Valeria Lulla. Replication strategies and applications of Semliki Forest virus. Tartu, 2007, 109 p.
- 130. Ülle Reier. Estonian threatened vascular plant species: causes of rarity and conservation. Tartu, 2007, 79 p.
- 131. **Inga Jüriado**. Diversity of lichen species in Estonia: influence of regional and local factors. Tartu, 2007, 171 p.
- 132. **Tatjana Krama**. Mobbing behaviour in birds: costs and reciprocity based cooperation. Tartu, 2007, 112 p.
- 133. **Signe Saumaa**. The role of DNA mismatch repair and oxidative DNA damage defense systems in avoidance of stationary phase mutations in *Pseudomonas putida*. Tartu, 2007, 172 p.
- 134. **Reedik Mägi**. The linkage disequilibrium and the selection of genetic markers for association studies in european populations. Tartu, 2007, 96 p.
- 135. **Priit Kilgas**. Blood parameters as indicators of physiological condition and skeletal development in great tits (*Parus major*): natural variation and application in the reproductive ecology of birds. Tartu, 2007, 129 p.
- 136. Anu Albert. The role of water salinity in structuring eastern Baltic coastal fish communities. Tartu, 2007, 95 p.
- 137. **Kärt Padari**. Protein transduction mechanisms of transportans. Tartu, 2008, 128 p.
- 138. Siiri-Lii Sandre. Selective forces on larval colouration in a moth. Tartu, 2008, 125 p.
- 139. Ülle Jõgar. Conservation and restoration of semi-natural floodplain meadows and their rare plant species. Tartu, 2008, 99 p.
- 140. Lauri Laanisto. Macroecological approach in vegetation science: generality of ecological relationships at the global scale. Tartu, 2008, 133 p.
- 141. **Reidar Andreson**. Methods and software for predicting PCR failure rate in large genomes. Tartu, 2008, 105 p.
- 142. Birgot Paavel. Bio-optical properties of turbid lakes. Tartu, 2008, 175 p.
- 143. **Kaire Torn**. Distribution and ecology of charophytes in the Baltic Sea. Tartu, 2008, 98 p.
- 144. **Vladimir Vimberg**. Peptide mediated macrolide resistance. Tartu, 2008, 190 p.
- 145. **Daima Örd**. Studies on the stress-inducible pseudokinase TRB3, a novel inhibitor of transcription factor ATF4. Tartu, 2008, 108 p.

- 146. Lauri Saag. Taxonomic and ecologic problems in the genus *Lepraria* (*Stereocaulaceae*, lichenised *Ascomycota*). Tartu, 2008, 175 p.
- 147. Ulvi Karu. Antioxidant protection, carotenoids and coccidians in greenfinches – assessment of the costs of immune activation and mechanisms of parasite resistance in a passerine with carotenoid-based ornaments. Tartu, 2008, 124 p.
- 148. Jaanus Remm. Tree-cavities in forests: density, characteristics and occupancy by animals. Tartu, 2008, 128 p.
- 149. Epp Moks. Tapeworm parasites *Echinococcus multilocularis* and *E. granulosus* in Estonia: phylogenetic relationships and occurrence in wild carnivores and ungulates. Tartu, 2008, 82 p.
- 150. Eve Eensalu. Acclimation of stomatal structure and function in tree canopy: effect of light and CO₂ concentration. Tartu, 2008, 108 p.
- 151. **Janne Pullat**. Design, functionlization and application of an *in situ* synthesized oligonucleotide microarray. Tartu, 2008, 108 p.
- 152. Marta Putrinš. Responses of *Pseudomonas putida* to phenol-induced metabolic and stress signals. Tartu, 2008, 142 p.
- 153. Marina Semtšenko. Plant root behaviour: responses to neighbours and physical obstructions. Tartu, 2008, 106 p.
- 154. Marge Starast. Influence of cultivation techniques on productivity and fruit quality of some *Vaccinium* and *Rubus* taxa. Tartu, 2008, 154 p.
- 155. Age Tats. Sequence motifs influencing the efficiency of translation. Tartu, 2009, 104 p.
- 156. **Radi Tegova**. The role of specialized DNA polymerases in mutagenesis in *Pseudomonas putida*. Tartu, 2009, 124 p.
- 157. **Tsipe Aavik**. Plant species richness, composition and functional trait pattern in agricultural landscapes the role of land use intensity and landscape structure. Tartu, 2009, 112 p.
- 158. **Kaja Kiiver**. Semliki forest virus based vectors and cell lines for studying the replication and interactions of alphaviruses and hepaciviruses. Tartu, 2009, 104 p.
- 159. Meelis Kadaja. Papillomavirus Replication Machinery Induces Genomic Instability in its Host Cell. Tartu, 2009, 126 p.
- 160. Pille Hallast. Human and chimpanzee Luteinizing hormone/Chorionic Gonadotropin beta (*LHB/CGB*) gene clusters: diversity and divergence of young duplicated genes. Tartu, 2009, 168 p.
- 161. Ain Vellak. Spatial and temporal aspects of plant species conservation. Tartu, 2009, 86 p.
- 162. **Triinu Remmel**. Body size evolution in insects with different colouration strategies: the role of predation risk. Tartu, 2009, 168 p.
- 163. Jaana Salujõe. Zooplankton as the indicator of ecological quality and fish predation in lake ecosystems. Tartu, 2009, 129 p.
- 164. Ele Vahtmäe. Mapping benthic habitat with remote sensing in optically complex coastal environments. Tartu, 2009, 109 p.

- 165. Liisa Metsamaa. Model-based assessment to improve the use of remote sensing in recognition and quantitative mapping of cyanobacteria. Tartu, 2009, 114 p.
- 166. **Pille Säälik**. The role of endocytosis in the protein transduction by cellpenetrating peptides. Tartu, 2009, 155 p.
- 167. Lauri Peil. Ribosome assembly factors in *Escherichia coli*. Tartu, 2009, 147 p.
- Lea Hallik. Generality and specificity in light harvesting, carbon gain capacity and shade tolerance among plant functional groups. Tartu, 2009, 99 p.
- 169. Mariliis Tark. Mutagenic potential of DNA damage repair and tolerance mechanisms under starvation stress. Tartu, 2009, 191 p.
- 170. **Riinu Rannap**. Impacts of habitat loss and restoration on amphibian populations. Tartu, 2009, 117 p.
- 171. **Maarja Adojaan**. Molecular variation of HIV-1 and the use of this knowledge in vaccine development. Tartu, 2009, 95 p.
- 172. Signe Altmäe. Genomics and transcriptomics of human induced ovarian folliculogenesis. Tartu, 2010, 179 p.
- 173. **Triin Suvi**. Mycorrhizal fungi of native and introduced trees in the Seychelles Islands. Tartu, 2010, 107 p.
- 174. **Velda Lauringson**. Role of suspension feeding in a brackish-water coastal sea. Tartu, 2010, 123 p.
- 175. **Eero Talts**. Photosynthetic cyclic electron transport measurement and variably proton-coupled mechanism. Tartu, 2010, 121 p.
- 176. **Mari Nelis**. Genetic structure of the Estonian population and genetic distance from other populations of European descent. Tartu, 2010, 97 p.
- 177. **Kaarel Krjutškov**. Arrayed Primer Extension-2 as a multiplex PCR-based method for nucleic acid variation analysis: method and applications. Tartu, 2010, 129 p.
- 178. **Egle Köster**. Morphological and genetical variation within species complexes: *Anthyllis vulneraria* s. l. and *Alchemilla vulgaris* (coll.). Tartu, 2010, 101 p.
- 179. Erki Õunap. Systematic studies on the subfamily Sterrhinae (Lepidoptera: Geometridae). Tartu, 2010, 111 p.
- 180. Merike Jõesaar. Diversity of key catabolic genes at degradation of phenol and *p*-cresol in pseudomonads. Tartu, 2010, 125 p.
- 181. **Kristjan Herkül**. Effects of physical disturbance and habitat-modifying species on sediment properties and benthic communities in the northern Baltic Sea. Tartu, 2010, 123 p.
- 182. Arto Pulk. Studies on bacterial ribosomes by chemical modification approaches. Tartu, 2010, 161 p.
- 183. **Maria Põllupüü**. Ecological relations of cladocerans in a brackish-water ecosystem. Tartu, 2010, 126 p.
- 184. **Toomas Silla**. Study of the segregation mechanism of the Bovine Papillomavirus Type 1. Tartu, 2010, 188 p.
- 185. **Gyaneshwer Chaubey**. The demographic history of India: A perspective based on genetic evidence. Tartu, 2010, 184 p.
- 186. **Katrin Kepp**. Genes involved in cardiovascular traits: detection of genetic variation in Estonian and Czech populations. Tartu, 2010, 164 p.
- 187. Virve Sõber. The role of biotic interactions in plant reproductive performance. Tartu, 2010, 92 p.
- 188. **Kersti Kangro**. The response of phytoplankton community to the changes in nutrient loading. Tartu, 2010, 144 p.
- 189. Joachim M. Gerhold. Replication and Recombination of mitochondrial DNA in Yeast. Tartu, 2010, 120 p.
- 190. Helen Tammert. Ecological role of physiological and phylogenetic diversity in aquatic bacterial communities. Tartu, 2010, 140 p.
- 191. **Elle Rajandu**. Factors determining plant and lichen species diversity and composition in Estonian *Calamagrostis* and *Hepatica* site type forests. Tartu, 2010, 123 p.
- 192. **Paula Ann Kivistik**. ColR-ColS signalling system and transposition of Tn4652 in the adaptation of *Pseudomonas putida*. Tartu, 2010, 118 p.
- 193. Siim Sõber. Blood pressure genetics: from candidate genes to genomewide association studies. Tartu, 2011, 120 p.
- 194. **Kalle Kipper**. Studies on the role of helix 69 of 23S rRNA in the factordependent stages of translation initiation, elongation, and termination. Tartu, 2011, 178 p.
- 195. **Triinu Siibak**. Effect of antibiotics on ribosome assembly is indirect. Tartu, 2011, 134 p.
- 196. **Tambet Tõnissoo**. Identification and molecular analysis of the role of guanine nucleotide exchange factor RIC-8 in mouse development and neural function. Tartu, 2011, 110 p.
- 197. Helin Räägel. Multiple faces of cell-penetrating peptides their intracellular trafficking, stability and endosomal escape during protein transduction. Tartu, 2011, 161 p.
- 198. Andres Jaanus. Phytoplankton in Estonian coastal waters variability, trends and response to environmental pressures. Tartu, 2011, 157 p.
- 199. **Tiit Nikopensius**. Genetic predisposition to nonsyndromic orofacial clefts. Tartu, 2011, 152 p.
- 200. **Signe Värv**. Studies on the mechanisms of RNA polymerase II-dependent transcription elongation. Tartu, 2011, 108 p.
- 201. Kristjan Välk. Gene expression profiling and genome-wide association studies of non-small cell lung cancer. Tartu, 2011, 98 p.
- 202. Arno Põllumäe. Spatio-temporal patterns of native and invasive zooplankton species under changing climate and eutrophication conditions. Tartu, 2011, 153 p.
- 203. Egle Tammeleht. Brown bear (*Ursus arctos*) population structure, demographic processes and variations in diet in northern Eurasia. Tartu, 2011, 143 p.

- 205. **Teele Jairus**. Species composition and host preference among ectomycorrhizal fungi in Australian and African ecosystems. Tartu, 2011, 106 p.
- 206. Kessy Abarenkov. PlutoF cloud database and computing services supporting biological research. Tartu, 2011, 125 p.
- 207. Marina Grigorova. Fine-scale genetic variation of follicle-stimulating hormone beta-subunit coding gene (*FSHB*) and its association with reproductive health. Tartu, 2011, 184 p.
- 208. Anu Tiitsaar. The effects of predation risk and habitat history on butterfly communities. Tartu, 2011, 97 p.
- 209. Elin Sild. Oxidative defences in immunoecological context: validation and application of assays for nitric oxide production and oxidative burst in a wild passerine. Tartu, 2011, 105 p.
- 210. Irja Saar. The taxonomy and phylogeny of the genera *Cystoderma* and *Cystodermella* (Agaricales, Fungi). Tartu, 2012, 167 p.
- 211. **Pauli Saag**. Natural variation in plumage bacterial assemblages in two wild breeding passerines. Tartu, 2012, 113 p.
- 212. Aleksei Lulla. Alphaviral nonstructural protease and its polyprotein substrate: arrangements for the perfect marriage. Tartu, 2012, 143 p.
- 213. **Mari Järve**. Different genetic perspectives on human history in Europe and the Caucasus: the stories told by uniparental and autosomal markers. Tartu, 2012, 119 p.
- 214. Ott Scheler. The application of tmRNA as a marker molecule in bacterial diagnostics using microarray and biosensor technology. Tartu, 2012, 93 p.
- 215. Anna Balikova. Studies on the functions of tumor-associated mucin-like leukosialin (CD43) in human cancer cells. Tartu, 2012, 129 p.
- 216. Triinu Kõressaar. Improvement of PCR primer design for detection of prokaryotic species. Tartu, 2012, 83 p.
- 217. **Tuul Sepp**. Hematological health state indices of greenfinches: sources of individual variation and responses to immune system manipulation. Tartu, 2012, 117 p.
- 218. Rya Ero. Modifier view of the bacterial ribosome. Tartu, 2012, 146 p.
- 219. Mohammad Bahram. Biogeography of ectomycorrhizal fungi across different spatial scales. Tartu, 2012, 165 p.
- 220. Annely Lorents. Overcoming the plasma membrane barrier: uptake of amphipathic cell-penetrating peptides induces influx of calcium ions and downstream responses. Tartu, 2012, 113 p.
- 221. **Katrin Männik**. Exploring the genomics of cognitive impairment: wholegenome SNP genotyping experience in Estonian patients and general population. Tartu, 2012, 171 p.
- 222. Marko Prous. Taxonomy and phylogeny of the sawfly genus *Empria* (Hymenoptera, Tenthredinidae). Tartu, 2012, 192 p.
- 223. **Triinu Visnapuu**. Levansucrases encoded in the genome of *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. tomato DC3000: heterologous expression, biochemical characterization, mutational analysis and spectrum of polymerization products. Tartu, 2012, 160 p.

- 224. Nele Tamberg. Studies on Semliki Forest virus replication and pathogenesis. Tartu, 2012, 109 p.
- 225. **Tõnu Esko**. Novel applications of SNP array data in the analysis of the genetic structure of Europeans and in genetic association studies. Tartu, 2012, 149 p.
- 226. **Timo Arula**. Ecology of early life-history stages of herring *Clupea harengus membras* in the northeastern Baltic Sea. Tartu, 2012, 143 p.
- 227. **Inga Hiiesalu**. Belowground plant diversity and coexistence patterns in grassland ecosystems. Tartu, 2012, 130 p.
- 228. **Kadri Koorem**. The influence of abiotic and biotic factors on small-scale plant community patterns and regeneration in boreonemoral forest. Tartu, 2012, 114 p.
- 229. Liis Andresen. Regulation of virulence in plant-pathogenic pectobacteria. Tartu, 2012, 122 p.
- 230. **Kaupo Kohv**. The direct and indirect effects of management on boreal forest structure and field layer vegetation. Tartu, 2012, 124 p.
- 231. Mart Jüssi. Living on an edge: landlocked seals in changing climate. Tartu, 2012, 114 p.
- 232. Riina Klais. Phytoplankton trends in the Baltic Sea. Tartu, 2012, 136 p.
- 233. **Rauno Veeroja**. Effects of winter weather, population density and timing of reproduction on life-history traits and population dynamics of moose (*Alces alces*) in Estonia. Tartu, 2012, 92 p.
- 234. Marju Keis. Brown bear (*Ursus arctos*) phylogeography in northern Eurasia. Tartu, 2013, 142 p.
- 235. Sergei Põlme. Biogeography and ecology of *alnus* associated ectomycorrhizal fungi – from regional to global scale. Tartu, 2013, 90 p.
- 236. Liis Uusküla. Placental gene expression in normal and complicated pregnancy. Tartu, 2013, 173 p.
- 237. Marko Lõoke. Studies on DNA replication initiation in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Tartu, 2013, 112 p.
- 238. Anne Aan. Light- and nitrogen-use and biomass allocation along productivity gradients in multilayer plant communities. Tartu, 2013, 127 p.
- 239. Heidi Tamm. Comprehending phylogenetic diversity case studies in three groups of ascomycetes. Tartu, 2013, 136 p.
- 240. Liina Kangur. High-Pressure Spectroscopy Study of Chromophore-Binding Hydrogen Bonds in Light-Harvesting Complexes of Photosynthetic Bacteria. Tartu, 2013, 150 p.
- 241. Margus Leppik. Substrate specificity of the multisite specific pseudouridine synthase RluD. Tartu, 2013, 111 p.
- 242. Lauris Kaplinski. The application of oligonucleotide hybridization model for PCR and microarray optimization. Tartu, 2013, 103 p.
- 243. **Merli Pärnoja**. Patterns of macrophyte distribution and productivity in coastal ecosystems: effect of abiotic and biotic forcing. Tartu, 2013, 155 p.
- 244. **Tõnu Margus**. Distribution and phylogeny of the bacterial translational GTPases and the Mqsr/YgiT regulatory system. Tartu, 2013, 126 p.

- 245. **Pille Mänd**. Light use capacity and carbon and nitrogen budget of plants: remote assessment and physiological determinants. Tartu, 2013, 128 p.
- 246. **Mario Plaas**. Animal model of Wolfram Syndrome in mice: behavioural, biochemical and psychopharmacological characterization. Tartu, 2013, 144 p.
- 247. Georgi Hudjašov. Maps of mitochondrial DNA, Y-chromosome and tyrosinase variation in Eurasian and Oceanian populations. Tartu, 2013, 115 p.
- 248. Mari Lepik. Plasticity to light in herbaceous plants and its importance for community structure and diversity. Tartu, 2013, 102 p.
- 249. Ede Leppik. Diversity of lichens in semi-natural habitats of Estonia. Tartu, 2013, 151 p.
- 250. Ülle Saks. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal diversity patterns in boreonemoral forest ecosystems. Tartu, 2013, 151 p.
- 251. Eneli Oitmaa. Development of arrayed primer extension microarray assays for molecular diagnostic applications. Tartu, 2013, 147 p.
- 252. Jekaterina Jutkina. The horizontal gene pool for aromatics degradation: bacterial catabolic plasmids of the Baltic Sea aquatic system. Tartu, 2013, 121 p.
- 253. **Helen Vellau**. Reaction norms for size and age at maturity in insects: rules and exceptions. Tartu, 2014, 132 p.
- 254. **Randel Kreitsberg**. Using biomarkers in assessment of environmental contamination in fish new perspectives. Tartu, 2014, 107 p.
- 255. Krista Takkis. Changes in plant species richness and population performance in response to habitat loss and fragmentation.Tartu, 2014, 141 p.
- 256. Liina Nagirnaja. Global and fine-scale genetic determinants of recurrent pregnancy loss. Tartu, 2014, 211 p.
- 257. **Triin Triisberg**. Factors influencing the re-vegetation of abandoned extracted peatlands in Estonia. Tartu, 2014, 133 p.
- 258. Villu Soon. A phylogenetic revision of the *Chrysis ignita* species group (Hymenoptera: Chrysididae) with emphasis on the northern European fauna. Tartu, 2014, 211 p.
- 259. Andrei Nikonov. RNA-Dependent RNA Polymerase Activity as a Basis for the Detection of Positive-Strand RNA Viruses by Vertebrate Host Cells. Tartu, 2014, 207 p.
- 260. Eele Õunapuu-Pikas. Spatio-temporal variability of leaf hydraulic conductance in woody plants: ecophysiological consequences. Tartu, 2014, 135 p.
- 261. **Marju Männiste**. Physiological ecology of greenfinches: information content of feathers in relation to immune function and behavior. Tartu, 2014, 121 p.
- 262. Katre Kets. Effects of elevated concentrations of CO₂ and O₃ on leaf photosynthetic parameters in *Populus tremuloides*: diurnal, seasonal and interannual patterns. Tartu, 2014, 115 p.

- 263. Külli Lokko. Seasonal and spatial variability of zoopsammon communities in relation to environmental parameters. Tartu, 2014, 129 p.
- 264. Olga Žilina. Chromosomal microarray analysis as diagnostic tool: Estonian experience. Tartu, 2014, 152 p.
- 265. **Kertu Lõhmus**. Colonisation ecology of forest-dwelling vascular plants and the conservation value of rural manor parks. Tartu, 2014, 111 p.
- 266. **Anu Aun**. Mitochondria as integral modulators of cellular signaling. Tartu, 2014, 167 p.
- 267. Chandana Basu Mallick. Genetics of adaptive traits and gender-specific demographic processes in South Asian populations. Tartu, 2014, 160 p.
- 268. **Riin Tamme**. The relationship between small-scale environmental heterogeneity and plant species diversity. Tartu, 2014, 130 p.
- 269. Liina Remm. Impacts of forest drainage on biodiversity and habitat quality: implications for sustainable management and conservation. Tartu, 2015, 126 p.
- 270. **Tiina Talve**. Genetic diversity and taxonomy within the genus *Rhinanthus*. Tartu, 2015, 106 p.
- 271. **Mehis Rohtla**. Otolith sclerochronological studies on migrations, spawning habitat preferences and age of freshwater fishes inhabiting the Baltic Sea. Tartu, 2015, 137 p.
- 272. Alexey Reshchikov. The world fauna of the genus *Lathrolestes* (Hymenoptera, Ichneumonidae). Tartu, 2015, 247 p.
- 273. **Martin Pook**. Studies on artificial and extracellular matrix protein-rich surfaces as regulators of cell growth and differentiation. Tartu, 2015, 142 p.
- 274. **Mai Kukumägi**. Factors affecting soil respiration and its components in silver birch and Norway spruce stands. Tartu, 2015, 155 p.
- 275. Helen Karu. Development of ecosystems under human activity in the North-East Estonian industrial region: forests on post-mining sites and bogs. Tartu, 2015, 152 p.
- 276. **Hedi Peterson**. Exploiting high-throughput data for establishing relationships between genes. Tartu, 2015, 186 p.
- 277. **Priit Adler**. Analysis and visualisation of large scale microarray data, Tartu, 2015, 126 p.
- 278. Aigar Niglas. Effects of environmental factors on gas exchange in deciduous trees: focus on photosynthetic water-use efficiency. Tartu, 2015, 152 p.
- 279. Silja Laht. Classification and identification of conopeptides using profile hidden Markov models and position-specific scoring matrices. Tartu, 2015, 100 p.
- 280. **Martin Kesler**. Biological characteristics and restoration of Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* populations in the Rivers of Northern Estonia. Tartu, 2015, 97 p.
- 281. Pratyush Kumar Das. Biochemical perspective on alphaviral nonstructural protein 2: a tale from multiple domains to enzymatic profiling. Tartu, 2015, 205 p

- 282. **Priit Palta**. Computational methods for DNA copy number detection. Tartu, 2015, 130 p.
- 283. Julia Sidorenko. Combating DNA damage and maintenance of genome integrity in pseudomonads. Tartu, 2015, 174 p.
- 284. Anastasiia Kovtun-Kante. Charophytes of Estonian inland and coastal waters: distribution and environmental preferences. Tartu, 2015, 97 p.
- 285. Ly Lindman. The ecology of protected butterfly species in Estonia. Tartu, 2015, 171 p.
- 286. Jaanis Lodjak. Association of Insulin-like Growth Factor I and Corticosterone with Nestling Growth and Fledging Success in Wild Passerines. Tartu, 2016, 113 p.
- 287. Ann Kraut. Conservation of Wood-Inhabiting Biodiversity Semi-Natural Forests as an Opportunity. Tartu, 2016, 141 p.
- 288. **Tiit Örd**. Functions and regulation of the mammalian pseudokinase TRIB3. Tartu, 2016, 182. p.
- 289. Kairi Käiro. Biological Quality According to Macroinvertebrates in Streams of Estonia (Baltic Ecoregion of Europe): Effects of Human-induced Hydromorphological Changes. Tartu, 2016, 126 p.
- 290. Leidi Laurimaa. *Echinococcus multilocularis* and other zoonotic parasites in Estonian canids. Tartu, 2016, 144 p.
- 291. Helerin Margus. Characterization of cell-penetrating peptide/nucleic acid nanocomplexes and their cell-entry mechanisms. Tartu, 2016, 173 p.
- 292. **Kadri Runnel**. Fungal targets and tools for forest conservation. Tartu, 2016, 157 p.
- 293. Urmo Võsa. MicroRNAs in disease and health: aberrant regulation in lung cancer and association with genomic variation. Tartu, 2016, 163 p.
- 294. Kristina Mäemets-Allas. Studies on cell growth promoting AKT signaling pathway – a promising anti-cancer drug target. Tartu, 2016, 146 p.
- 295. **Janeli Viil**. Studies on cellular and molecular mechanisms that drive normal and regenerative processes in the liver and pathological processes in Dupuytren's contracture. Tartu, 2016, 175 p.
- 296. Ene Kook. Genetic diversity and evolution of *Pulmonaria angustifolia* L. and *Myosotis laxa sensu lato* (Boraginaceae). Tartu, 2016, 106 p.
- 297. Kadri Peil. RNA polymerase II-dependent transcription elongation in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Tartu, 2016, 113 p.
- 298. **Katrin Ruisu**. The role of RIC8A in mouse development and its function in cell-matrix adhesion and actin cytoskeletal organisation. Tartu, 2016, 129 p.
- 299. Janely Pae. Translocation of cell-penetrating peptides across biological membranes and interactions with plasma membrane constituents. Tartu, 2016, 126 p.
- 300. Argo Ronk. Plant diversity patterns across Europe: observed and dark diversity. Tartu, 2016, 153 p.

- 301. **Kristiina Mark**. Diversification and species delimitation of lichenized fungi in selected groups of the family Parmeliaceae (Ascomycota). Tartu, 2016, 181 p.
- 302. Jaak-Albert Metsoja. Vegetation dynamics in floodplain meadows: influence of mowing and sediment application. Tartu, 2016, 140 p.
- 303. Hedvig Tamman. The GraTA toxin-antitoxin system of *Pseudomonas putida*: regulation and role in stress tolerance. Tartu, 2016, 154 p.
- 304. **Kadri Pärtel**. Application of ultrastructural and molecular data in the taxonomy of helotialean fungi. Tartu, 2016, 183 p.
- 305. **Maris Hindrikson**. Grey wolf (*Canis lupus*) populations in Estonia and Europe: genetic diversity, population structure and -processes, and hybridization between wolves and dogs. Tartu, 2016, 121 p.
- 306. **Polina Degtjarenko**. Impacts of alkaline dust pollution on biodiversity of plants and lichens: from communities to genetic diversity. Tartu, 2016, 126 p.
- 307. Liina Pajusalu. The effect of CO₂ enrichment on net photosynthesis of macrophytes in a brackish water environment. Tartu, 2016, 126 p.
- 308. Stoyan Tankov. Random walks in the stringent response. Tartu, 2016, 94 p.
- 309. Liis Leitsalu. Communicating genomic research results to populationbased biobank participants. Tartu, 2016, 158 p.
- 310. **Richard Meitern**. Redox physiology of wild birds: validation and application of techniques for detecting oxidative stress. Tartu, 2016, 134 p.
- 311. Kaie Lokk. Comparative genome-wide DNA methylation studies of healthy human tissues and non-small cell lung cancer tissue. Tartu, 2016, 127 p.
- 312. Mihhail Kurašin. Processivity of cellulases and chitinases. Tartu, 2017, 132 p.
- 313. Carmen Tali. Scavenger receptors as a target for nucleic acid delivery with peptide vectors. Tartu, 2017, 155 p.
- 314. Katarina Oganjan. Distribution, feeding and habitat of benthic suspension feeders in a shallow coastal sea. Tartu, 2017, 132 p.
- 315. **Taavi Paal**. Immigration limitation of forest plants into wooded landscape corridors. Tartu, 2017, 145 p.
- 316. **Kadri Õunap**. The Williams-Beuren syndrome chromosome region protein WBSCR22 is a ribosome biogenesis factor. Tartu, 2017, 135 p.
- 317. **Riin Tamm**. In-depth analysis of factors affecting variability in thiopurine methyltransferase activity. Tartu, 2017, 170 p.
- 318. Keiu Kask. The role of RIC8A in the development and regulation of mouse nervous system. Tartu, 2017, 184 p.
- 319. **Tiia Möller**. Mapping and modelling of the spatial distribution of benthic macrovegetation in the NE Baltic Sea with a special focus on the eelgrass *Zostera marina* Linnaeus, 1753. Tartu, 2017, 162 p.
- 320. Silva Kasela. Genetic regulation of gene expression: detection of tissueand cell type-specific effects. Tartu, 2017, 150 p.

- 321. **Karmen Süld**. Food habits, parasites and space use of the raccoon dog *Nyctereutes procyonoides*: the role of an alien species as a predator and vector of zoonotic diseases in Estonia. Tartu, 2017, p.
- 322. **Ragne Oja**. Consequences of supplementary feeding of wild boar concern for ground-nesting birds and endoparasite infection. Tartu, 2017, 141 p.
- 323. **Riin Kont**. The acquisition of cellulose chain by a processive cellobiohydrolase. Tartu, 2017, 117 p.
- 324. Liis Kasari. Plant diversity of semi-natural grasslands: drivers, current status and conservation challenges. Tartu, 2017, 141 p.
- 325. Sirgi Saar. Belowground interactions: the roles of plant genetic relatedness, root exudation and soil legacies. Tartu, 2017, 113 p.
- 326. **Sten Anslan**. Molecular identification of Collembola and their fungal associates. Tartu, 2017, 125 p.
- 327. **Imre Taal**. Causes of variation in littoral fish communities of the Eastern Baltic Sea: from community structure to individual life histories. Tartu, 2017, 118 p.
- 328. Jürgen Jalak. Dissecting the Mechanism of Enzymatic Degradation of Cellulose Using Low Molecular Weight Model Substrates. Tartu, 2017, 137 p.
- 329. Kairi Kiik. Reproduction and behaviour of the endangered European mink (*Mustela lutreola*) in captivity. Tartu, 2018, 112 p.
- 330. **Ivan Kuprijanov**. Habitat use and trophic interactions of native and invasive predatory macroinvertebrates in the northern Baltic Sea. Tartu, 2018, 117 p.
- 331. **Hendrik Meister**. Evolutionary ecology of insect growth: from geographic patterns to biochemical trade-offs. Tartu, 2018, 147 p.
- 332. **Ilja Gaidutšik.** Irc3 is a mitochondrial branch migration enzyme in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Tartu, 2018, 161 p.
- 333. Lena Neuenkamp. The dynamics of plant and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities in grasslands under changing land use. Tartu, 2018, 241 p.
- 334. Laura Kasak. Genome structural variation modulating the placenta and pregnancy maintenance. Tartu, 2018, 181 p.
- 335. Kersti Riibak. Importance of dispersal limitation in determining dark diversity of plants across spatial scales. Tartu, 2018, 133 p.
- 336. Liina Saar. Dynamics of grassland plant diversity in changing landscapes. Tartu, 2018, 206 p.
- 337. Hanna Ainelo. Fis regulates *Pseudomonas putida* biofilm formation by controlling the expression of *lapA*. Tartu, 2018, 143 p.
- 338. **Natalia Pervjakova.** Genomic imprinting in complex traits. Tartu, 2018, 176 p.
- 339. Andrio Lahesaare. The role of global regulator Fis in regulating the expression of *lapF* and the hydrophobicity of soil bacterium *Pseudomonas putida*. Tartu, 2018, 124 p.

- 340. Märt Roosaare. *K*-mer based methods for the identification of bacteria and plasmids. Tartu, 2018, 117 p.
- 341. **Maria Abakumova.** The relationship between competitive behaviour and the frequency and identity of neighbours in temperate grassland plants. Tartu, 2018, 104 p.
- 342. Margus Vilbas. Biotic interactions affecting habitat use of myrmecophilous butterflies in Northern Europe. Tartu, 2018, 142 p.
- 343. Liina Kinkar. Global patterns of genetic diversity and phylogeography of *Echinococcus granulosus* sensu stricto – a tapeworm species of significant public health concern. Tartu, 2018, 147 p.
- 344. **Teivi Laurimäe.** Taxonomy and genetic diversity of zoonotic tapeworms in the species complex of *Echinococcus granulosus* sensu lato. Tartu, 2018, 143 p.
- 345. **Tatjana Jatsenko.** Role of translesion DNA polymerases in mutagenesis and DNA damage tolerance in Pseudomonads. Tartu, 2018, 216 p.
- 346. Katrin Viigand. Utilization of α-glucosidic sugars by Ogataea (Hansenula) polymorpha. Tartu, 2018, 148 p.
- 347. Andres Ainelo. Physiological effects of the *Pseudomonas putida* toxin grat. Tartu, 2018, 146 p.
- 348. Killu Timm. Effects of two genes (DRD4 and SERT) on great tit (*Parus major*) behaviour and reproductive traits. Tartu, 2018, 117 p.
- 349. Petr Kohout. Ecology of ericoid mycorrhizal fungi. Tartu, 2018, 184 p.
- 350. Gristin Rohula-Okunev. Effects of endogenous and environmental factors on night-time water flux in deciduous woody tree species. Tartu, 2018, 184 p.
- 351. Jane Oja. Temporal and spatial patterns of orchid mycorrhizal fungi in forest and grassland ecosystems. Tartu, 2018, 102 p.
- 352. Janek Urvik. Multidimensionality of aging in a long-lived seabird. Tartu, 2018, 135 p.
- 353. Lisanna Schmidt. Phenotypic and genetic differentiation in the hybridizing species pair *Carex flava* and *C. viridula* in geographically different regions. Tartu, 2018, 133 p.
- 354. Monika Karmin. Perspectives from human Y chromosome phylogeny, population dynamics and founder events. Tartu, 2018, 168 p.
- 355. **Maris Alver.** Value of genomics for atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease risk prediction. Tartu, 2019, 148 p.
- 356. Lehti Saag. The prehistory of Estonia from a genetic perspective: new insights from ancient DNA. Tartu, 2019, 171 p.
- 357. Mari-Liis Viljur. Local and landscape effects on butterfly assemblages in managed forests. Tartu, 2019, 115 p.
- 358. **Ivan Kisly.** The pleiotropic functions of ribosomal proteins eL19 and eL24 in the budding yeast ribosome. Tartu, 2019, 170 p.
- 359. Mikk Puustusmaa. On the origin of papillomavirus proteins. Tartu, 2019, 152 p.

- 360. **Anneliis Peterson**. Benthic biodiversity in the north-eastern Baltic Sea: mapping methods, spatial patterns, and relations to environmental gradients. Tartu, 2019, 159 p.
- 361. Erwan Pennarun. Meandering along the mtDNA phylogeny; causerie and digression about what it can tell us about human migrations. Tartu, 2019, 162 p.
- 362. **Karin Ernits**. Levansucrase Lsc3 and endo-levanase BT1760: characterization and application for the synthesis of novel prebiotics. Tartu, 2019, 217 p.
- 363. **Sille Holm**. Comparative ecology of geometrid moths: in search of contrasts between a temperate and a tropical forest. Tartu, 2019, 135 p.
- 364. **Anne-Mai Ilumäe.** Genetic history of the Uralic-speaking peoples as seen through the paternal haplogroup N and autosomal variation of northern Eurasians. Tartu, 2019, 172 p.
- 365. Anu Lepik. Plant competitive behaviour: relationships with functional traits and soil processes. Tartu, 2019, 152 p.
- 366. Kunter Tätte. Towards an integrated view of escape decisions in birds under variable levels of predation risk. Tartu, 2020, 172 p.